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THE HISTORY OF LINCOLN COUNTY.

BY ALFRED NIXON.

THE COLONIAL PERIOD.

Lincoln County was born mid the throes of the American

llevolution, and christened for a patriot soldier, then battling

for independence. Prior to that time, while Carolina was a

Province of Great Britain, in the bestowal of names there was

manifest a desire to please royalty : ISTew Hanover was called

for the House of Hanover ; Bladen, in honor of Martin Bla-

den, one of the Lords Commissioners of Trade and Planta-

tions ; Anson, set up in 1Y49 from Bladen, derived its name

from Admiral Anson, of the English ISTavy, who in 1761 was

charged with the mission of bringing to her marriage with

George the Third, Charlotte of Mecklenburg. So, when the

western part of Anson was set up into a county in 1762, it

was called Mecklenburg, with county seat the Queen City of

Charlotte, in compliment to the wife of His Majesty, George

the Thil-d. As the settlements extended westward from the

Atlantic seaboard new counties were formed to meet the con-

venience of the inhabitants. In 1768, Mecklenburg was

divided "by a line beginning at Earl Granville's line where

it crosses the Catawba Biver and the said river to be the line

to the South Carolina line, and all that part of the county

lying to the westward of the said dividing line shall be one

other distinct county and parish, and remain by the name of

Tryon County and Saint Thomas Parish." The name Tryon

was given in honor of His Excellency, William Tryon, Royal

Governor of the Province.



112 THE NORTH CAROLINA BOOKLET.

William Tryon, an officer in the regular army of Great

Britain, landed at Cape Fear October the 10th, 1764, with

a commission as Lieutenant-Governor of the Province. His

administration as Governor of JSTorth Carolina lasted from

the death of Governor Dobbs, 28th March, 1765, to the 30th

day of June, 1771, when he was appointed Governor of ISTew

York. In the rupture with Great Britain he was a Major-

General in command of American Loyalists, vainly endeav-

oring to re-establish Royal Rule. He remained nominally

Governor of 'New York until March 22, 1780. The name of

Governor Tryon appears at the head of the list of names

enumerated in the confiscation acts of both ISTorth Caro-

lina and New York, and the county of Tryon in each of

these States was enpunged from the map. Tryon Mountain

and Tryon City in the county of Polk, and one of the princi-

pal streets in the city of Charlotte yet preserve his name.

Shortly after relinquishing the government of ISTew York, he

failed for England, where he rose to the rank of Lieutenant-

General. He died in London, the 27th of January, 1788,

aged 58 years.

The War of the Revolution rages. The patriots are bat-

tling for independence. Opj)ressions of the Royal Governor

have made his name odious. "The large extent of the county

of Tryon renders the attendance of the inhabitants on the

extreme parts of the said county to do public duties extremely

difiicult and expensive. For remedy whereof," the General

Assembly in 1779, instead of setting the western part off

into a new county, as had been its custom, blotted the name

of Tryon from the list of counties and divided its territory

into two counties, "by a line beginning at the south line near

Broad River, thence along the dividing ridge between Buf-

falo Creek and Little Broad River to the line of Burke

County" ; and to the two counties thus formed were given

the names of two patriotic soldiers. The western portion was
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named Rutherford in honor of Griffith Rutherford, of Rowan
County, a Brigadier-General in the Revolution ; and the

eastern portion Lincoln, in compliment to Maj .-Gen. Benja-

min Lincoln, of Rhode Island, commander of the Southern

armies.

Benjamin Lincoln was born January 23d, 1733, at Hing-

ham, about thirteen miles from Boston. In February, 1777,

he was appointed Major-General in the Revolutionary Army
and served with gallantry throughout the struggle. At the

i-equest of the delegation in Congress from South Carolina,

he was assigned to command the Army in the South. In

1780 General Lincoln was forced to surrender to the superior

force of the British at Charleston. When exchanged he

resumed the service, and was at the surrender of Cornwallis

at Yorktown, where the generous Washington designated him

to receive the conquered arms of the British. He was ap-

pointed Secretary of War in 1781, with permission to retain

his rank in the army. He died in the house of his birth 9th

of May, 1810.

When Tryon was divided the Tryon court-house fell in

Lincoln County, and the courts of Lincoln were held there

until April, 1783, and the Tryon records are still in Lincoln-

ton. The pioneers came into what is now Lincoln County

between the years 1745 and 1749, when it was Bladen

County; they continued to come until the American Revolu-

tion. So the pioneer history of Lincoln County is covered

by Bladen, Anson, Mecklenburg and Tryon counties. The

Tryon records cover ten years of the Colonial history of Lin-

coln County, 1769 to 1779. When Tryon was formed, the

first settlers had not been here more than a score of years.

The Tryon records contain many quaint things, mingled with

matters of grave public concern, and a glance at them is of

interest to the student of Lincoln County history.



114 THE JSrORTH CAROLINA BOOKLET.

TRYON COUNTY.

In a letter of Governor Tryon of date December 12th, 1768,

he describes Tryon County as "forty-five miles in breadth due

north and south and eighty miles due east and west it having

been found to be that distance from the Catawba River to

the western frontier line which was run last year between the

Cherokee hunting grounds and this Province." The site for

the public buildings was not fixed until 1774. As there was

no court-house the courts during this time were held at pri-

vate residences that happened to be convenient and suitable

for the purpose.

The Tryon records begin with these words : ''North Caro-

lina, Tryon County. Pursuant to Act of Assembly of the

Province aforesaid bearing date the fifth of December, 1768,

in the ninth year of his Majesty's reign, for dividing Meck-

lenburg into two distinct counties by the name of Mecklen-

burg County and Tryon County and for other purposes in

the said Act mentioned." His Majesty's commission under

the great seal of the Province appointing certain justices

to keep the peace for the county of Tryon is read. Ezekiel

Polk, Clerk, John Tagert, Sheriff, and Alexander Martiji,

Attorney for the Crown, produce commissions and take oaths

of office. Waightstill Avery produces license of attorney and

takes oath of office.

The court records, beginning at April Sessions, 1769, are

in the handwriting of Ezekiel Polk, the first clerk, who lived

near King's Mountain. Ezekiel Polk removed to Mecklen-

burg County, and afterwards became famous through his

grandson, James K. Polk, president of the United States.

The Tryon Courts were styled the "County Court of Pleas

and Quarter Sessions." In this court deeds and wills were

probated, estates settled, land entries recorded, guardians ap-

pointed, orphans apprenticed, highways opened, overseers

appointed, and many other matters attended to. There

were grand and petit juries and an "attorney for the crown."
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These courts convened quarterly and continued without ma-

terial change until the adoption of the constitution of 1868.

The courts of Oyer and Terminer, corresponding to our

Superior Courts, were District Courts, several counties com-

prising one district, Tryon County was in the Salisbury

District, and each County Court appointed its quota of jurors

to attend the Salisbury Court. In 1782 the Salisbury Dis-

trict was divided, and Lincoln and other western counties

were declared a separate district by the name of Morgan,

where the Judges of the Superior Courts shall sit twice every

year and hold a Superior Court of law. Lincoln County re-

mained in the Morgan District, the courts being held at Mor-

gan Town, until 1806, when a Superior Court was estab-

lished in each county of the State to be held twice every year.

The Tryon Court was organized at Charles McLean's, and

the Quarter Sessions for the years 1769, 1770, and 1771,

were held at his house. He lived in the southern part of

what is now Gaston County, on the headwaters of Crowder's

Creek, near Crowder's Mountain. Charles McLean was an

early, active, and zealous friend of liberty. At January

Sessions 1770 he produced his Excellency's commission ap-

pointing him captain in the Tryon Regiment of Loot, and

took the oath of office. In 1774 he was one of his Majesty's

justices, and chairman of the committee appointed to select

a permanent site for the court-house of Tryon County. He
was a delegate from Tryon County to the Provincial Congress

at Halifax, 4th April, 1776 ; also representing Tryon County

in Assembly during the years 1777 and 1778. Between

sessions, as colonel of the Tryon Regiment, he was actively

engaged against western Tories.

The criminal docket of Tryon is marked "Crown Docket,"

and the indictments are brought in the name of the "King"

or "Rex," as we now use "State." The minutes of a few

cases tried at the first term will serve to show the administra-

tion of justice: "The King v. John Doe. Petty Larceny.
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Jury empaneled finds the defendant guilty of the charge

against him. Judgment by the Court that the defendant be

detained in the Sheriff's custody till the costs of this prosecu-

tion be paid, and that at the hour of one o'clock of this day

the said defendant on his bare back at the public whipping

post receive thirty-nine lashes well laid on. "Rex. v. Thomas

Pullham. Profane swearing. Submitted and fined five

shillings." ''The King v. John Case. Sabbath breaking.

Defendant pleads guilty, fined ten shillings and the cost."

"The King v. John Carson. IsTeglect of the King's High-

way. Submitted and fined one shilling and sixpence." Let-

ters testamentary granted ISTicholas Welsh on the estate of

John Welsh, deceased. William Wilson, appointed overseer

of the road from the South Fork to Charles Town in that

part between King's Mountain and Ezekiel Polk's; Charles

McLean in that part between Ezekiel Polk's and the head of

Fishing Creek. The road orders extend to the "temporary

line between So. and ISTo. Carolina." At October Sessions

the claims against Tryon County for the year 1769, include

a charter, twenty pounds expenses in sending for charter,

eight pounds ; Charles McLean, to two courts held at his

house, five pounds ; other items swell the amount to seventy-

one pounds, sixteen shillings, and ten pence; and a tax of

three shillings and two pence was levied on each of the 1221

taxable persons in Tryon County to meet the same.

At July Term, lYYO, "Thomas Camel came into court

and proved that the lower part of his ear was bit off in a fight

with Steven Jones, and was not taken off by sentence of law

;

certified to whom it may concern." At a later term, "James

Kelly comes into open court of his own free will and in the

presence of said court did acknowledge that in a quarrel be-

tween him and a certain Leonard Sailor on the evening of

the 2d day of June, 1773, he did bite off the upper part of

the left ear of him, the said Leonard Sailor, who prays that
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the same be recorded in the minutes of the said court." This

confession gave James Kelly such standing in the esteem of

his Majesty's Justices that at the same term it was "Or-

dered by the Court that James Kelly serve as constable in the

room of George Trout and that he swear in before Thomas

Espy, Esq." From the court entries biting off ears was a

popular way of fighting, but whole ears were at least an out-

ward sign of honesty.

An old parchment, yellowed with age, labeled "Charter of

Tryon County," encased in a frame, with great wax seal

appended hangs on the court-house walls. It is addressed

in the name of his Majesty, "George the Third by the Grace

of God of Great Britain, France and Ireland, King Defender

of the Faith, and so forth, To All and Singular our Faithful

Subjects, Greeting," and is officially attested by "our trusty

and well-beloved William Tryon, our Captain-General, Gov-

ernor and Commander-in-Chief," at Wilmington, 26th June,

1Y69. It authorized Tryon County to elect and send two

representatives to sit and vote in the House of Assembly.

The Quarter Sessions of 1772 were held at Christian Eein-

hardt's. The site of his house is now in the northern cor-

porate limits of the town of Lincolnton, on the Ramsour Bat-

tle Ground. The Tories were encamped around his house,

and after the battle it was used as a hospital. His house was

built of heavy hewn logs, with a basement and stone founda-

tion, that served some of the purposes of a fort both during

Indian troubles and the Eevolution. Some evidence of its

strength is furnished by this item from the record of July

Sessions, 1783 : "Ordered by the Court that Christian Rein-

hardt's loft be the public gaol of said county until the end of

next Court, October Term, 1783."

The courts of 1773 and 1774 were held at Christopher

Carpenter's. He lived in the Beaver Dam section. There

were some half-dozen Carpenters among the pioneers. Their
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signatures to all early deeds and wills are written in the Ger-

man, Zimmerman.

The commissioners appointed by Act of Assembly to se-

lect the place whereon to erect and build the court-house,

prison and stocks of Tryon County, on 26th July, 1774, re-

ported their selection of the place "called the cross-roads on

Christopher Mauney's land, between the heads of Long

Creek, Muddy Creek, and Beaver Dam Creek in the county

aforesaid as most central and convenient for the purpose

aforesaid." The county court adjourned to meet at the

"house of Christy Mauney or the cross-roads in his land."

The site of the old Tryon court-house is eight miles south-

west of Lincolnton, in Gaston County. October Sessions,

1774, were held at the house of Christian Mauney, and a

room in his dwelling was used as a jail.

The old county of Lincoln, with its fine farms and beau-

tiful homes, dotted with towns and villages, and musical with

the hum of machinery, the pioneers found a wild, luxuriant

with native flora, the habitat of the red man and wild ani-

mals. There were herds of fleet-footed deer; there were

clumsy brown bears and fierce wild cats and panthers ; there

were droves of buffalo, and countless beavers building their

dams on the creeks. The early settlers waged a relentless

war on these animals and set a bounty on many of their

scalps. The scalps on which a price was set were the wolf,

panther, wild cat, and such other as preyed on domestic ani-

mals. For killing a gro^vn Avolf the price was one pound ; a

young wolf ten shillings ; a wild cat five shillings. The

claims filed in court were for "scalp tickets." As late as

October Sessions, 1774, there were audited in favor of vari-

ous individuals forty-nine "wolf scalp tickets." We still

retain Indian, Beaver Dam, and Buffalo Creeks, Bear Ford,

Wolf Gulch, and Buffalo Mountain, Buffalo Shoals, and the
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Indian names Catawba and Tnckaseegee, memorials of these

primeval days.

In Trjon County there were many loyal subjects of the

king, and there was likewise a gallant band of patriots who

as early as August, 1775, adopted and signed the following

bold declaration:

"The unprecedented, barbarous and bloody actions com-

mitted by British troops on our American brethren near

Boston, on 19th April and 20th of May last, together with

the hostile operations and treacherous designs now carrying

on, by the tools of ministerial vengeance, for the subjuga-

tion of all British America, suggest to us the painful neces-

sity of having recourse to arms in defense of our iTational

freedom and constitutional rights, against all invasions

;

and at the same time do solemnly engage to take up arms

and risk our lives and our fortunes in maintaining the free-

dom of our country whenever the wisdom and counsel of the

Continental Congress . or our Provincial Convention shall

declare it necessary ; and this engagement we will continue

in for the preservation of those rights and liberties which the

principles of our Constitution and the laws of God, nature

and nations have made it our duty to defend. We there-

fore, the subscribers, freeholders and inhabitants of Tryon

County, do hereby faithfully unite ourselves under the most

solemn ties of religion, honor and love to our country, firmly

to resist force by force, and hold sacred till a reconciliation

shall take place between Great Britain and America on Con-

stitutional principles, which we most ardently desire, and

do firmly agree to hold all such persons as inimical to the

liberties of America who shall refuse to sign this associa-

tion. (Signed) John Walker, Charles McLean, Andrew

N^eel, Thomas Beatty, James Coburn, Frederick Ham-
bright, Andrew Hampton, Benjamin Hardin, George Paris,

William Graham, Robt. Alexander, David Jenkins, Thomas
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Espey, Perrygreen Mackness, James McAfee, William

Thompson, Jacob Forney, Davis Whiteside, John. Beeman,

John Morris, Joseph Harden, John Robison, James Mcln-

tyre, Valentine Manney, George Black, Jas. Logan, Jas.

Baird, Christian Carpenter, Abel Beatty, Joab Turner, Jon-

athan Price, Jas. Miller, John Dellinger, Peter Sides, Wil-

liam Whiteside, Geo. Dellinger, Samuel Carpenter, Jacob

Moony, Jun., John Wells, Jacob Costner, Robert Hulclip,

James Buchanan, Moses Moore, Joseph Kuykendall, Adam
Simms, Richard Waffer, Samuel Smith, Joseph ISTeel, Sam-

uel Loftin.

In 1777 an act was passed establishing State courts, pro-

viding that all suits and indictments instituted and fines im-

posed "in the name or the use of the King of Great Britain,

when this territory was under his government, and owed

allegiance to him, and all breaches on penal statutes di-

rected to be prosecuted in the name of the king shall be

prosecuted and proceeded in the name of the State." This

act terminated the "Crown Docket," and the King or Rex
as prosecutor. The "State Docket" begins at October Ses-

sions, 1777.

The change of government from royal to state in Tryon

County was consummated without a jar. The last Tryon

court was held in January, 1779. During this year Tryon

is blotted from the list of counties and the War of the Revo-

lution is in progress. Lincoln County became the scene of

many thrilling Revolutionary events.

THE BATTLE OF RAMSOUR's MILL.

The Tories were embodied at Ramsour's Mill through the

efforts of Lieut.-Col. John Moore and Maj. IsFicholas Welch.

These officers left the victorious British on the march from

Charleston and arrived at their homes early in June, 1780.

Moses Moore, the father of Colonel Moore, was a native of
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Carlyle, England, married a Miss Winston, near Jamestown,

Virginia, and came to this section with the pioneers. Esther,

a sister of Colonel Moore, married Joshua Roberts, a patriot

soldier. The late Capt. John H. Roberts, a grandson, lived

on the Moore homestead. It is situate on Indian Creek,

eight miles southwest of Eamsour's Mill. Colonel Moore

was an active partisan throughout the Revolution. Major

Welch was a son of John Welch, and was reared next neigh-

bor to Colonel Moore on Indian Creek. He was of Scottish

descent, of great fluency of speech and fine persuasive power.

Thej bore English commissions, were arrayed in splendid

official equipments, and made lavish display of British gold.

By the twentieth of June, these zealous loyalists collected at

Eamsour's Mill a force of 1,300 Tories, and were actively en-

gaged in their organization and drill preparatory to march-

ing them to unite with the British in South Carolina. They

occupied a well-chosen and advantageous position for offense

and defense. It was on a high ridge that slopes three hun-

dred yards to the mill and Clarke's Creek on the west,

and the same distance to a branch on the east.

Col. Francis Locke collected a force of Rowan and Meck-

lenburg militia to engage the Tories. His detachments met

at Mountain Creek, sixteen miles from Ramsour's, on Mon-

day, the 19th, and when united amounted to four himdred

men. They marched at once to the assault of the Tory posi-

tion. At dawn of day on the morning of the 20th, in two

miles of Ramsour's, they were met by Adam Reep, a noted

scout, with a few picked men from the vicinity of the camp,

who detailed to Colonel Locke the position of the enemy, and

the plan of attack was formed. The mounted men under

Captains McDowell, Brandon and Falls, marching slowly,

were to follow the road due west to the camp, and not attack

until the footmen under Colonel Locke could detour to the

south, and reach the foot of the hill along the Tuckaseegee
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road, and make a simultaneous assault. They proceeded

without other organization or order, it being left to the offi-

cers to be governed by circumstances when they reached the

enemy.

The mounted men came upon the Tory picket some dis-

tance from the camp, were fired upon, charged the Tory

camp, but recoiled from their deadly fire. The firing hur-

ried Colonel Locke into action, a like volley felled many of

his men, and they likewise retired. The Tories, seeing the

effect of their fire, came down the hill and were in fair view.

The Whigs renewed the action, which soon became general

and obstinate on both sides. In about an hour the Tories

began to fall back to their original position on the ridge, and

a little beyond its summit, to shield a part of their bodies

from the destructive fire of the Whigs, who were fairly ex-

posed to their fire. In this situation the Tory fire became

so effective the Whigs fell back to the bushes near the branch

;

and the Tories, leaving their safe position, pursued half way

down the hill. At this moment Captain Hardin led a com-

pany of Whigs into the field from the south and poured a

galling fire into the right flank of the Tories. Some of the

Whigs obliqued to the right, and turned the left flank of the

Tories ; while Captain Sharpe led a few men beyond the

crest of the ridge, and, advancing from tree to tree, with

unerring aim picked off the enemy's officers and men, and

hastened the termination of the conflict. The action now

became close and warm. The combatants mixed to-

gether, and having no bayonets, struck at each other with the

butts of their guns. When the Whigs reached the summit

they saw the Tories collected beyond the creek, with a white

flag flying. Fifty Tories, unable to make the bridge, were

taken prisoners. Those beyond soon dispersed and made
their escape. One-fourth of the Tories were unarmed, and
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thej with a few others retired at the commencemeiit of the

battle.

Seventy men, including five Whig and four Tory captains,

lay dead on the field, and more than two hundred were

wounded, the loss on each side being about equal. In this

contest, armed with the deadly rifle, blood relatives and

familiar acquaintances and near neighbors fought in the

opposing ranks, and as the smoke of battle occasionally

cleared away recognized each other in the conflict.

Moore's defeat destroyed Toryism in this section. When
Lord Cornwallis marched through the county the following

January, and encamped at Eamsour's Mill, he lost more

men by desertion than he gained by recruits.

THE BATTLE OF KINg's MOUNTAIN.

Col. Patrick Ferguson pitched his camp on the summit of

King's Mountain, the 6th of October, 1780. So well pleased

was he with his position that he gave vent to the impious

boast that God Almighty could not drive him from it. In

his army were eleven hundred men, brave and well disci-

plined, every one of whom knew what actual flghting meant.

The patriot army aggTegated a like number of eleven hun-

dred men. Their only weapon was the long-barreled rifle in

whose use they were experts. FergTison had out foraging

parties, and some of the patriots on foot could not keep up

with the march, so it is probable the combatants on each

side numbered nine hundred men.

To Colonel Shelby is due the inception of the campaign

and much of the mobilization of the patriot army. To its

successful culmination the little band of Lincoln men, sixty

in number, contributed their full share. They united with

the mountain men in pursuit of Ferguson at the Cowpens

about sunset on October the 6th. Between 8 and 9 o'clock

of the same evening the army set out toward King's Moun-
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tain in quest of Ferguson. Enock Gilmer, an advance scout^

dined at noon of the Yth with a Tory family. From them he

learned that Ferguson's camp was only three miles distant,

on a ridge between two creeks, where some deer hunters had

a camp the previous fall. Major Chronicle and Captain

Mattocks stated that the camp was theirs and that they well

knew the ground on which Ferguson was encamped ; where-

upon it was agreed that they should plan the battle. They

rode a short distance by themselves, and reported that it was

an excellent place to surround Ferguson's army; that the

shooting would all be uphill with no danger of destroying

each other. The officers instantly agTeed to the plan, and

without stopping began to arrange their men, assigning to

each officer the part he was to take in surrounding the moun-

tain. To the north side were assigned Shelby, Williams,

Lacey and Cleveland, and on the south side Campbell, Sevier,

McDowell and Winston, while the Lincoln men, under Lieut.-

Col. Frederick Hambright, were to attack the northeast end

of the mountain. It was three o'clock in the afternoon

when the patriots reached their position, and Campbell's

men were first to fire into the enemy. His column was

charged by Ferguson's men with fixed bayonets, and driven

down the mountain side. Shelby was advancing in quick

time from the other side, so the enemy found it necessary to

give attention to Shelby's assault, when Campbell's men re-

turned to the fight, and Shelby and his men were forced to re-

treat before the dashing charge of Ferguson's bayonets.

Thus back and forth, Campbell, Sevier, McDowell and Win-

ston on the one side, Shelby, Williams, Lacey and Cleveland

on the other, charged up the mountain and were driven back,

only to renew the charge, until the mountain was enveloped

in flame and smoke, and the rattle of musketry sounded like

thunder.

The South Fork boys marched to their position with quick
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step, Major Chronicle ten paces in advance, and heading the

column were Enock Gilmer, Hugh Ewin, Adam Barry and

Kobert Henry. Arriving at the end of the mountain, Major

Chronicle cried, "Face to the hill!" The words were

scarcely uttered when they were fired upon by the enemy's

sharp-shooters, and Major Chronicle and William Eabb fell

dead. But they pressed up the hill under the leadership of

Lieutenant-Colonel Hambright, Maj. Jos. Dixon, Capts.

James Johnston, Samuel Espey, Samuel Martin, and James

White. Before they reached the crest, the enemy charged

bayonets, first, however, discharging their guns, killing Cap-

tain Mattocks and John Boyd and wounding William Gilmer

and John Chittim. As Robert Henry, a lad of sixteen,

raised his gun to fire, a bayonet glanced along the barrel,

through his hand and into his thigh. Henry discharged his

gun, killing the Briton and both fell to the gi'ound. Henry

observed that many of his comrades were not more than a

gun's length in front of the bayonets and the farthest not

more than twenty feet. Reaching the foot of the hill, they

reloaded, and fired with deadly effect upon their pursuers, in

turn chasing their enemies up the mountain. William Cald-

well, seeing Henry's condition, pulled the bayonet out of his

thigh, kicked his hand from the bloody instrument and

passed on. Thus the battle raged on all sides. E'o regiment,

no man failed to do his duty. The unerring aim of the

mountain men from behind every tree and every rock was

rapidly diminishing the brave fighters under Ferguson, who

began to despair. At the end of an hour Ferguson was

killed, and a white flag was hoisted in token of surrender.

Three hundred of his men were dead and wounded, and six

hundred prisoners. The Americans suffered a loss of twenty-

eight killed and seventy-four wounded.

Thus was fought one of the decisive battles of the Revolu-
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tion. It was the enemy's first serious disaster and turned

the tide of war. Ferguson and his army were wiped out of

existence. Its immediate result was to check the enemy's

progress until the patriots could muster strength for his final

overthrow.

The Lincoln County men, considering their small number,

suffered considerably in the engagement: Maj. William

Chronicle, Capt. John Mattocks, William Kabb, John Boyd
and Arthur Patterson were killed ; Moses Henry died soon

thereafter in the hospital at Charlotte of the wound he re-

ceived in the battle; Capt. Samuel Espey, Eobert Henry,

William Gilmer, John Chittim, and William Bradley were

wounded. The Tories, shooting down the steep mountain

side, much of their aim was too high. Lieutenant-Colonel

Hambright's hat was perforated with three bullet holes, and

he received a shot through the thigh, his boot filled and ran

over with blood, but he remained in the fight till the end,

gallantly encouraging his men.

CORNWALLIS IN PURSUIT OF MORGAN.

Morgan defeated Colonel Tarleton in a signal victory at

the Cowpens, South Carolina, 17th January, 1781. In less

than an hour five hundred of Tarletoii's Legion were prison-

ers, the remainder slain and scattered, and he scampering in

mad haste to Cornwallis, then but twenty-five miles distant.

General Morgan, anxious to hold every one of his prisoners

to exchange for the Continental line of ]!^orth Carolina cap-

tured at Charleston, and then langTiishing on British prison

ships, immediately began his famous retreat toward Vir-

ginia, while Cornwallis, in command of 4,000 well-equipped

veterans, gave pursuit. Colonel Washington's cavalry, with

the prisoners, safely crossed the Catawba at the Island Ford

;

the prisoners were sent on, while Washington rejoined Gen-

eral Morgan, who had crossed with the main army eight or
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nine miles farther down at Sherrill's Ford, where they tar-

ried awhile on the eastern bank.

The British came by way of the old Tryon court-house.

Cornwallis says "I therefore assembled the army on the 25th

at Eamsour's Mill on the south fork of the Catawba, and as

the loss of my light troops could only be remedied by the ac-

tivity of the whole corps, I employed a halt of two days in col-

lecting some flour, and destroying superfluous baggage, and

all my wagons except those loaded with hospital stores, and

four reserved in readiness for sick and wounded." Stead-

man says that Lord Cornwallis, "by first reducing the size

and quantity of his own, set an example which was cheer-

fully followed by all the ojfficers in his command, although

by so doing they sustained a considerable loss. No wagons

were reserved except those loaded with hospital stores, salt

and ammunition, and four empty ones for the accommodation

of the sick and wounded. And such was the ardour, both of

officers and soldiers, and their willingness to submit to any

hardship for the promotion of the service, that this arrange-

ment, which deprived them of all future prospect of spiritu-

ous liquors, and even hazarded a regular supply of provisions,

was acquiesced in without a murmur."

Cornwallis crossed the South Fork Eiver at the Keep Ford,

one mile from Eamsour's Mill, and pitched his marquee on

the Eamsour battle-gTound ; O'Hara remained on the west

bank of the river at the Eeep place; Webster occupied !;he

hill west of the Eamsour Mill; while Tarleton, who had

crossed the river three miles lower down, between the Labora-

tory and the present railway bridge, in rejoining his chief,

camjDed on the hill south of Cornwallis. Foraging parties

were sent out in different directions to collect grain, and

Eamsour's Mill was kept running day and night converting

the grain into flour to replenish his Lordship's commissary.

In the destruction of baggage, Cornwallis first ordered his
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splendid camp chest burned. His mahogany tea chest with

the remainder of his tea, and six solid silver spoons, he sent

to Mrs. Barbara Reinhardt, wife of Christian Reinhardt,

with a note requesting that she accept them. These presents

were treasured and carefully preserved. At the breaking out

of the Civil War they belonged to a granddaughter, whose

sons were Confederate volunteers. Believing an old saying

that whoever carries anything in war that was carried in an-

other war by a person that was not killed, v^U likewise be

unharmed, she gave each of her sons one of the silver spoons,

and the others to neighbor boys, and in this way the spoons

were lost and Federal bullets shattered faith in their charm.

The chest is yet preserved. After the conflagration many

irons were tumbled in the mill-pond while others left on the

ground were picked up by citizens. The milldam was taken

down the next summer and much iron valuable to the farmers

taken out. A few defective muskets were found ; also one

piece of artillery, so damaged it was not removed from the

mud. Where the whiskey and rum bottles were broken the

fragments lay in heaps for years. These were afterwards

gathered up and sold to the potters for glazing purposes.

To this destruction of his whole material train and neces-

sary outfit for a winter campaign Judge Schenck attributes

the final discomfiture of Cornwallis at Gruilford Court House.

The supplies he burned could not be replaced short of Wil-

ming'ton, and thither he was compelled to go when a reverse

met his arms.

While here Cornwallis requested Christian Reinhardt to

point out Colonel Moore's position, and describe the battle of

Ramsour's Mill. At the conclusion his only observation

was that Colonel Moore had a fine position, but did not have

the tact to defend it ; that he ought not to have risked a bat-

tle but should have fallen back to Ferguson.

Early on the morning of the 28th the British broke camp
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and marched toward Beattie's Ford, a distance of twelve

miles, to Jacob Forney's. The moving Britons, in scarlet

uniforms, with glittering muskets, made an impressive sight,

and tradition still preserves their route. Jacob Forney was

a thrifty farmer and well-known Whig. Here they en-

camped three days, consuming his entire stock of cattle,

hogs, sheep and poultry, and taking his horses and forty gal-

lons of brandy. Some state that Cornwallis approached the

Catawba on the evening of the 28th, and found it consider-

ably swollen and impassable for his infantry and this caused

him to fall back to Jacob Forney's plantation.

THE BATTLE OF COWAN^S FOKD.

The tardiness of Cornwallis was not altogether due to the

flushed condition of the Catawba, however much the swollen

waters of the Yadkin and the Dan may have later impeded

his pursuit. The prime cause of delay was the vigilance of

the Whigs in guarding the several fords. On the approach

of the British, Gen. William Davidson placed guards at the

Tuckaseegee, Tool's and Cowan's fords ; with his gTeatest

force and Capt. Joseph Graham's cavalry troops, he took

position himself at Beattie's Ford; while Morgan and Wash-

ington were at Sherrill's Ford. Cornwallis kept posted on

these dispositions. Cowan's was a private ford, guarded only

by Lieut. Thomas Davidson with twenty-five men. After

getting the best information he could obtain, C:rnwallis re-

solved to attempt the passage at Cowan's Ford. Each army

was keeping close watch on the movements of the other. On
the 30th Captain Graham's cavalry was dispatched across

Beattie's Ford and ascertained that the British were en-

camped within four miles, and in two miles they discovered

one hundred of the enemy's cavalry, who followed them to

the river but kept at a respectful distance, evincing fear of

an ambuscade. Green, Morgan and Washington came to
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Davidson's headquarters at Beattie's Ford on the afternoon of

the 31st and held a consultation. The British vanguard of

ioar or five hundred men appeared on the opposite hill be-

yond the river and viewed the American position. After

Oeneral Green's departure, leaving a portion of his force at

Beattie's Ford, under Colonel Farmer, General Davidson,

with 250 men and the cavalry, marched dovni the river four

miles to Cowan's Ford, where he arrived after dark.

The river at Cowan's Ford is one-fourth of a mile wide.

The wagon ford went directly across the river. The horse

ford, entering at the same place, obliqued down the river,

through an island, and came out on the Mecklenburg side a

quarter of a mile lower down. The latter was the shallower

and most used, and the one the British were expected to

follow, so General- Davidson took position on the hill over-

looking this ford. Above the coming-out place of the wagon

ford was a narrow strip of level bottom, and then an abrupt

hill. Lieutenant Davidson's picket remained at +heir post

on this level strip, fifty steps above the landing and ne:ir

the water's edge.

Cornwallis broke camp at one in the morning of the first

of February, and detached Lieutenant-Colonel Webster with

that part of the army and all the baggage to Beattie's Ford,

where General Davidson was supposed to be posted, with

direction to make every possible demonstration by cannon-

ading and otherwise of an intention of forcing a passage,

while he marched to Cowan's Ford, arriving at the bank of

the river as day began to break. The command of the front

was given to Colonel Hall of the Guards. Under the guid-

ance of Frederick Hager, a Tory living on the west bank,

employed by Cornwallis on account of his familiarity with

the ford, the bold Britons plunged into the river, with the

firm determination of encountering the small band of Amer-

icans on the eastern bank. When one hundred yards in the
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river they were discovered and fired upon by Lieutenant

Davidson's picket which aroused the guard, who kept up the

fire, but the enemy continued to advance. 'No sooner did

the guide who attended the light infantry to show them the

ford, hear the report of the sentinel's musket than he turned

around and left them. This, at first seemed to portend much
mischief but in the end proved fortunate for the British.

Colonel Hall, forsaken by his guide, and not knowing the

true direction of the ford, led his column directly across the

river to the nearest point of the opposite bank. The picket

fire alarmed Davidson's camp, who paraded at the horse ford,

then Graham's cavalry was ordered to the assistance of the

picket. By the time the cavalry were in position on the high

bank, and ready for action the British were within fifty

yards of the Mecklenburg shore. The cavalry poured a de-

structive fire into the advancing columns. The British did

not fire a gTin while in the water ; as they landed they loaded

their guns and fired up the bank. The firing was kept up

some minutes, but the Whigs soon retreated from the unequal

contest.

By the time his Lordship crossed the river Webster had his

force in array on the face of the hill fronting Beattie's Ford,

and was making demonstrations of attempting a passage.

His front lines were firing by platoons, a company went into

the water fifty steps and fired ; while four cannon were boom-

ing for half an hour, the flying balls cutting off the limbs of

trees and tearing up the opposite bank, the sound rolling

down the river like peals of thunder. All this, however, was

only a feint. Colonel Farmer, being notified by an aide of

General Davidson, that the enemy had crossed at Cowan's

Ford, retired. The pickets at other points were notified and

all united at John McKnitt Alexander's that afternoon, eight

miles from Charlotte ; while Cornwallis united his forces two

miles from Beattie's Ford at Given's farm.
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In this action, the Americans lost General Davidson, a

gallant, brave and generous officer, and three others. Of the

British, Colonel Hall and another officer and tv^enty-nine

privates were killed and thirty-five were wounded. The

horse of Cornwallis was shot and fell dead as he ascended the

bank. Lord Cornwallis on the 2d of February returns his

thanks "to the Brigade of Guards for their cool and deter-

mined bravery in the passage of the Catawba, while rushing

through that long and difficult ford under a galling fire."

IMPOBTAKCE OF THESE ENGAGEMENTS.

On the 18th June, 1780, General Eutherford, in command

of the Mecklenburg and Eowan militia, marched to attack

the Tories at Eamsour's Mill. At the Catawba, Col. William

Graham, with the . Lincoln County Eegiment, united with

General Eutherford, swelling his command to twelve hun-

dred. He encamped at Col. Joseph Dickson's, three miles

from the Tuckaseegee, twenty miles from Eamsour's, and

about the same distance from Colonel Locke on Mountain

Creek. General Eutherford dispatched a message directing

Colonel Locke to join him at the Dickson place on the even-

ing of the 19th or the morning of the 20th. Colonel Locke

likewise dispatched James Johnston to inform General

Eutherford of his intention to give the Tories battle on the

morning of the 20th. However, no junction was formed

and after a hard and well-fought battle Colonel Locke de-

feated the Tories. General Eutherford followed the Tucka-

seegee road and arrived at Eamsour's Mill two hours after the

battle. The dead and most of the wounded were lying where

they fell. General Eutherford remained here two days send-

ing Davie's Cavalry and other troops in pursuit of the To-

ries, thus accenting the victory and making the defeat crush-

ing and complete, subduing the loyalist spirit, with conse-

quent encouragement of the patriots.
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Three days after the battle Allaire, who was with Fergu-

son, referring to the battle of Kamsour's Mill, recorded in

his dairy: ''Friday, 23d. Lay in the field at ISTinety-six.

Some friends came in. Four were wounded. The militia

had embodied at Tuckaseegee, on the South Fork of the Ca-

tawba River. Were attacked by a party of rebels, under

command of General Rutherford. The militia were scant

of ammunition, which obliged them to retreat. They were

obliged to swim the river at the milldam. The Rebels fired

on them and killed thirty." Col. John Moore with thirty

men reached Cornwallis at Camden, where he was threatened

with a trial by court-martial for hastening organization in

advance of Ferguson.

The Battle of Ramsour's Mill was fraught with important

results. It was fought at a gloomy period of the Revolution,

when the cause of liberty seemed prostrate and hopeless in

the South. The victorious British considered South Caro-

lina and Georgia restored to English rule and were planning

the invasion of ISTorth Carolina. It marks the turning

point in the war. But for this battle Moore and Welch could

have reinforced Ferguson with an army of 1,500 or 2,000

men, and there might have been no King's Mountain, or

King's Mountain with a different result. But instead of

aid to Ferguson, the Lincoln Regiment with the South Caro-

linians under Hill and Lacey were again encamped on the

Catawba, and when Colonel Williams crossed the Tucka-

seegee, and united with these troops, the entire force encoun-

tering no opposition, followed the Tuckaseegee road, via Ram-

sour's Mill, the Flint Hill road to Cherry Mountain, later

uniting with the mountain men at the Cowpens, the next day

helping to destroy Ferguson, and gain the glorious victory,

that makes the name of King's Mountain famous in our

country's history, of which the Battle of Cowpens, Guilford

Court House and the surrender of Cornwallis at Torktown

were the direct consequences.
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LINCOLN COUNTY PENSION ROLL.

On the pension roll as late as 1834, more than fifty years

after the Revolution, the following is the Lincoln County list

of soldiers yet living and drav^^ing pensions: Robert Aber-

nethy, Vincent Allen, Christian Arney, Matthew Armstrong,

Robert Berry, Jonas Bradshaw, Caspar Bolick, Alexander

Brevard, Samuel Caldwell, William Carroll, John Chittim,

Michal Cline, Samuel Collins, Martin Coulter, Thomas Cost-

ner, George Dameron, Joseph Dixon, Peter Eddlemon, Wil-

liam Elmore, Samuel Espey, James Farewell, Abraham For-

ney, Robinson Goodwin, Joseph Graham, William Gregory,

I»[athan Gwaltney, Mcholas Hafner, Simon Hager, John

Harman, John Helm, James Henry, James Hill, John Kidd,

John Kincaid, Robert Knox, Shadrack Lefcy, Tapley Ma-

hannas, Marmaduke Maples, Samuel Martin, Thomas Ma-

son, William Mayes, William McCarthy, William McLean,

N'athan Mendenhall, Alexander Moore, John Moore, William

Moore, Jeremiah Mundy, Humphrey Parker, Hiram Pen-

dleton, Jacob Plonk, William Potter, William Rankin,

Charlie Regan, Adam Reep, Michael Reep, Joshua Roberts,

James Robinson, Henry Rumfeldt, Peter Scrum, John

Stamey, Bartholomew Thompson, Charles Thompson, Phillip

Tillman, Conrad Tippong, Robert Tucker, John TurbyfiU,

Charles Whit, John Wilfong, Joseph Willis, James Wilkin-

son, and Elisha Withers.

LINCOLNTON AND LINCOLN COUNTY.

When Tryon County was divided the Tryon Court-house

fell in Lincoln County, but too near its western border for

public convenience. The courts for part of the years 1783

and 1784 were held at the house of Capt. Nicholas Friday.

His residence stood on the east side of the river, seven miles

south of Lincolnton. The courts of July and October ses-

sions, 1784, were held at the house of Henry Bellinger, and
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his spring house was designated as the "gaol." This spring

house was a two-story affair, the lower stone, the upper logs

;

the upper story was used as the public jail. Some of the

prisoners escaping, the sheriff was ordered "to make use of a

room in Henry Dellinger's house to be strengthened for the

purposes of a common gaol." The sheriffs, for protection

against the escape of prisoners from these very odd jails,

always had entered on the court record their "protest against

the sufficiency of said gaol." The site of Henry Dellinger's

home is Magnolia, six miles southeast of Lincolnton, where

the late John B. Smith lived.

While the location of the county seat remained an open

question, the map of the county changed. In 1753, the

western portion of the Granville domain was set up into the

county of Eowan. Rowan in 1777, was divided by a line

beginning on the Catawba Eiver at the Tryon and Mecklen-

burg corner, thence up the meanders of the said river to

the north end of an island, known as "the Three Cornered

Island," etc., and the territory west and south of said line

erected into a new county, by the name of Burke, and the

county seat, Morganton, located fifty miles from the south-

east part of the county on the Catawba. It being repre-

sented to the General Assembly that "certain of the inhabi-

tants of Burke labor under great hardships in attending on

courts and other public meetings from their remote situation

from the court-house," in 1782 it enacted that all that part

of Burke from Sherrill's Ford to the Fish Dam Ford of the

South Fork, "and from thence a southwest course to Earl

Granville's old line," be taken from Burke and added to Lin-

coln County. In 1784 a gTeater slice of Burke was added

to Lincoln. The line separating the counties began at the

Horse Ford on the Catawba and ended at the same point in

the Granville line. This is now a noted point, known as

the "Three County Corner," the corner of Lincoln, Burke
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and Cleveland, and is the only established point in the old

Granville line west of the Catawba River.

The act of 1784 appointed Joseph Dickson, John Carruth,

John Wilson, Joseph Steele and Nicholas Friday, commis-

sioners to locate the county toMm, which they did by entering

for the purpose three hundred acres of "vacant and unappro-

priated land, lying between the lines of Christian Eeinhardt

and Phillip Cansler in our county of Lincoln on both sides

of the wagon road leading from the Tuckaseegee Ford to

Eamsour's Mill and including the forks of the road leading

to Cansler's sawmill." The grant for same was made De-

cember 14th, 1785, to "Joseph Dickson in trust for the citi-

zens of Lincoln County." The General Assembly, in 1786,

granted a charter for Lincolnton, reciting that the place is

"a healthy and pleasant situation and well watered." The

same year the town was laid off into lots. At the intersec-

tion of Main and Aspin streets, the two principal streets of

the town, was left a public square on which the court-house

was erected. The first hundred lots laid off the commission-

ers disposed of by a tov^ni lottery, the draft of which and the

papers connected therewith are yet on file. Chances were

taken by the prominent men of that day and also by many
ladies. A specimen ticket reads : "This ticket entitles

the bearer to whatever number is drawn against it in the

Lincoln Lottery, 'No. 86, Jo. Dickson." The corporate lim-

its have been tv^ce extended in the last decade, and the

western boundary now rests on Clarke's Creek and the South

Fork Eiver.

In the history of Lincolnton and Lincoln County the

name of Joseph Dickson stands conspicuous. The site of his

homestead is two miles northwest of Mount Holly, on the

line of the Seaboard Air Line Railroad. General Ruther-

ford, en route to attack the Tories at Ramsour's Mill, en-

camped at Dickson's the night before the battle. He accom-
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panied General Rutherford next day, passing over the ground

then vacant land, where five years later, the grant was made

to him as proprietor in trust for the citizens of Lincoln

County. He was one of the immortal heroes of King's

Mountain. With the rank of major he was one of the ofiicers

that led the South Fork boys up the rugged northeast end of

the mountain, facing with undaunted spirit the lead and the

charge of the enemy's bayonet. In 1Y81 he opposed the Brit-

ish invasion of IS^orth Carolina, serving with the rank of

colonel. During this year he was elected county court clerk,

which office he held the next ten years. He was chairman

of the committee that selected the site of Lincolnton, and

the grant for the land on which the town was built was made

to him. The grantor to all the original purchasers of lots

is, "Joseph Dickson, Esq., proprietor in trust for the commis-

sioners appointed to lay off a town in the county of Lincoln

by the name of Lincolnton." He was chosen Senator from

Lincoln County in 1788, and continuously succeeded himself

until 1795. In 1789 he was one of the forty great men of

the State selected by the General Assembly to constitute the

first trustees of the University of ISTorth Carolina. He then

served as a general in the militia. From 1799 to 1801 he

was a member of Congress. December 27th, 1803, he sold

his plantation of twelve hundred acres, and removed to

Rutherford County, Tennessee, where he died, April 24th,

1825, aged eighty years, and was buried with military and

Masonic honors.

Lincolnton is situate 869 feet above sea level in the hill

country of the great Piedmont belt. In the county are Reece,

Clubbs, Daily, Rush and Buffalo Mountains; they are small

peaks not larger than Hog Hill in the northern part of the

county. From Lincolnton mountains are visible in almost

every direction. On the northeast is Anderson's Mountain

;

in the southwest looms up King's Mountain, on whose his-
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toric heights was fought the memorable battle that broke the

power of the British crown; in line with King's Mountain

to the south can be seen Spencer, Crowder, and Pasour Moun-

tains; in the north and northwest are Baker's Mountain,

Carpenter and Ben's Knobs, and numerous peaks of the

South Mountains; while in the distance in solemn grandeur

lies the upturned face of the Grandfather; and yet still

farther away rise the far-distant peaks of the great Blue

Eidge. The Carolina and ]^orthwestern Railway comes in

from Chester, South Carolina, and runs northwesterly into

the heart of the mountains of ITorth Carolina ; while from

the east comes in the Seaboard Air Line, and extends west-

wardly to Rutherfordton.

Lincoln thus remained a large county until 1841, when

the first slice was- taken to form, with a portion of Ruther-

ford, the county of Cleveland. In 1842, Catawba was set

up from Lincoln by an east and west line passing one and a

half miles north of Lincolnton. In 1846, the southern part

was set off into the county of Gaston, by a line to pass four

and a half miles south of Lincolnton, and four miles of

Catawba ceded back to Lincoln. The formation of these

new counties reduced Lincoln to a narrow strip, ten miles

in width with an average length of thirty miles, and it is with

this strip that the remainder of this narrative will deal.

Lincoln County is bounded on the north by Catawba County

;

on the east by the Catawba River, which separates it from

Iredell and Mecklenburg; on the south by Gaston; on the

west by Cleveland, and one-fourth mile of Burke.

FIKST SUPERIOR COURT CLERK.

Lawson Henderson was long an influential citizen, filling

the offices of county surveyor, sheriff, and clerk of the county

and Superior Courts. He was a son of James Henderson,

a pioneer settler, and was appointed Superior Court clerk
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for life under the Act of Assembly of 1806 establishing a

Superior Court in each county of the State. He served from

April term, 1807, to Fall term, 1835, when he resigned. At

Fall term, 1833, John D. Hoke applied for the clerk's office,

having been elected pursuant to act of 1832. Then followed

the suit of "Hoke vs. Henderson," in which Mr. Henderson

was the winner. This was a famous case. It decided that

an office is property, and was not reversed until 1903, and

then by a majority opinion, two justices dissenting.

PLEASANT RETREAT ACADEMY.

This school occupied four acres in the northern part of

Lincolnton. From its institution it bore the attractive name

of Pleasant Retreat Academy. The older students delighted

to speak of its refreshing shades—the oak and the hickory

interspersed with the chestnut and the chinquepin—and the

spring at the foot of the hill. It was chartered by the Gen-

eral Assembly, 10th December, 1813, with the following trus-

tees : Rev. Philip Henkle, Rev. Humphrey Hunter, Lawson

Henderson, Joseph Graham, John Fullenwider, John Hoke,

Peter Forney, Robert Williamson, Daniel Hoke, J. Rein-

hardt, Vardry McBee, David Ramsour, Peter Hoyle, Henry

Y. Webb, George Carruth, William McLean, Robert Burton,

John Reid, and David Reinhardt. In this school were

trained a long roll of men whose names adorn their county's

history. Of its students

—

James Pinkey Henderson, son of Maj. Lawson Hender-

son, sought the broad area of the "Lone Star State" for the

full development of his giant intellect and won fortune and

fame. An eminent lawyer, Attorney-General of the Repub-

lic of Texas, its minister Plenipotentiary and Envoy Extra-

ordinary to France, England and the United St:ites, Major-

General of the United States Army in the War with Mexico,

Governor of Texas, and at the time of hi? death United
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States Senator, he adorned the positions hi< courage and

talents won.

William Lander, brilliant, impetuous and chivalric, was

one of the foremost advocates of the bar and member of the

convention from Lincoln County that passed the Ordinance

of Secession. Afterwards his splendid eloquence found con-

genial fellowship amid the fiery spirits of the Confederate

CongTess. Lawyer, solicitor, legislator and member of the

Confederate Congress, he has a monument of love and affec-

tion in the hearts of those who knew him best. His brother,

Rev. Samuel Lander, was a man of broad scholarship, an edu-

cator of note, and a preacher of wide repute.

Thomas Dews, when a mere lad, entered the State Uni-

versity, graduated in the class of 1824, taught awhile in

Pleasant Retreat, , and began the practice of law. He was

drowned in Second Broad River, August 4th, 1838, aged 30

years, 2 months and 25 days. His remains lie in honor

beneath a marble shaft, the tribute of a noble-hearted woman
to the man who adored her while he lived, and marks the

spot where rests her lover and her love. Judge William H.

Battle knew Mr. Dews at Chapel Hill and often spoke of

his talents and his genius. Toward the close of an address

before the literary societies at the commencement of 1865,

growing reminiscent, Judge Battle said: "I will occupy a few

more moments of your time in recalling from the dim recollec-

tions of the past the names of a few men, each of whom was

regarded as a college genius of the day, and who with well-

directed energies, and a longer life might have left a name
the world would not willingly let die. In the year 1824

Thomas Dews, a young man from the county of Lincoln, took

his degTee of Bachelor of Arts, dividing with Prof. Sims,

Judge Manly and ex-Governor Graham the highest honor of

the class. His parents were poor, and it is said resorted to

the humble occupation of selling cakes for the purpose of
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procuring means for the education of their promising boy.

After graduation, he studied law and commenced the practice

with every prospect of eminent success, when unhappily, a

morbid sensitiveness of temperament drove him to habits of

intemperance, during one of the fits of which he came to an

untimely end. His name, which ought to have gone down

to posterity on account of great deeds achieved by extraordi-

nary talents, will probably be remembered only in connection

with a happily-turned impromptu epitaph." Yet it has

gone down in history immortalized by his neighbor and

friend. Col. James E. Dodge, a distinguished practitioner for

many years at the Lincolnton bar. Colonel Dodge was a

son of Gen. Eichard Dodge and Sarah Ann Dodge, his

mother being a sister of Washingtnn Irving, of ISTew York.

Those acquainted with the playful writings of Washington

Irving will not be surprised at the spontaneous retort of

his nephew. But one residence separated the Dews home

from that of Colonel Dodge in Lincolnton. At April term,

1832, of Eutherford Superior Court, David L. Swain, after-

wards Governor, was on the bench and in the bar were Samuel

Hillman, Tom Dews and Mr. Dodge. While Mr. Dodge was

addressing the jury. Judge Swain recalled a punning epitaph

on a man named Dodge, wrote it on a piece of paper, and

passed it around to the merriment of the bar; and when

Colonel Dodge had finished his speech, he found lying on

his table:

"epitaph of JAMES E. DODGE, ESQ., ATTORNET-AT-LAW.

"Here lies a Dodge, who dodged all good.

And dodged a deal of evil.

Who after dodging all he could,

He could not dodge the Devil."

Mr. Dodge read the paper, turned it over and wrote on the

other side:
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"epitaph of three attorneys.

"Here lies a Hillman and a Swain,

Whose lot let no man choose;

They lived in sin and died m pain.

And the Devil got his Dews" [dues].

Among the post-bellum students are Hoke Siuith, lawyer,

journalist, Secretary of the Interior, and Governor of Geor-

gia; William Alexander Hoke, Associate Justice of the

Supreme Court of ISTorth Carolina ; William E. Shipp, Lieu-

tenant Tenth United States Cavalry, killed on San Juan

Hill, Battle of Santiago, July 1st, 1898 ; T. H. Cobb, Beverly

C. Cobb, David W. Robinson, Charles E. Childs, Charles C.

Cobb, and Lemuel B. Wetmore, lawyers ; Silas McBee, Editor

of the Churchman; Rev. William L. Sherrill of the West-

ern ISTorth Carolina Conference; William E. Grigg, banker;

Blair and Hugh Jenkins, Charles and Henry Robinson, mer-

chants ; William W. Motz, architect and builder ; William A.

Costner, Thomas J. Ramsour, Charles M. Sumner, farmers,

and a long list of others.

The Pleasant Retreat Academy property has been trans-

ferred to the Daughters of the Confederacy for a Memorial

Hall. In this there is eminent fitness, for among its students

were William A. Graham, Confederate States Senator ; Wil-

liam Lander, member of the Confederate Congress ; Maj .-

Gen. Stephen D. Ramseur; Maj.-Gen. Robert F. Hoke; Col.

John E. Hoke; Col. William J. Hoke; Maj. Frank Schenck;

Capts. James F. Johnston, Joseph W. Alexander, George W.
Seagie, George L. Phifer, James D. Wells, and others, mak-

ing an honor roll of more than a hundred Confederate sol-

diers.

Lincolnton Female Academy was chartered by the General

Assembly December 21st, 1821, with James Bivings, Vardry

McBee, David Hoke, John Mushatt, Joseph E. Bell, and

Joseph Morris, trustees. Four acres on the south side of
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the town were conveyed to the trustees for school purposes,

and the two school properties were connected by Academy

street. The Female Academy likewise had a long and useful

career. It is now the site of the Lincolnton graded school.

EAKLY SETTLERS AND CHURCHES.

The early settlers of Lincoln were of Scotch-Irish and Ger-

man origin. There were but few of other nationalities.

They came in swarms, by "hundreds of wagons from the

northwards." About the year 1750, the Scotch-Irish settle-

ment covered both banks of the Catawba, so the eastern por-

tion of Lincoln was populated by this race, while the South

Fork and its tributaries—the remainder of the county

—

were contemporaneously settled by Germans.

The Scotch-Irish are stern and virile, noted for hatred of

sham, hypocrisy and oppression. The Germans are hardy

and thrifty, characterized by love of home and country, tena-

cious of custom and slow to change. Both were a liberty-

loving. God-fearing people, among whom labor was dignified

and honorable. A charm about these pioneers is, that their

heads were not turned by ancestral distinction. They were

self-reliant and mastered the primeval forest, with its hard-

ships and disadvantages. They became adepts in handicraft

and combated the foes of husbandry in an unsettled region.

They were the silent heroes who shaped destiny and im-

bued unborn generations with strength of character and force

of will. The early Scotch-Irish preachers taught the creed

of Calvin and Knox, and the first place of worship on the

east side was Presbyterian. The pioneer Germans were fol-

lowers of the great central figure of the Reformation, Martin

Luther, and the Swiss Reformer, Ulrick Zwingle, and the

oldest place of worship on the west side is Lutheran and

Reformed. To-day the county is dotted with churches which,

according to numerical strength, rank in the following order

:
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Methodist Episcopal, Baptist, Lutheran, Methodist Protes-

tant, Presbyterian, Keformed and Protestant Episcopal.

When churches were few camp meetings were held by the

Presbyterians, Baptists, Reformed, Protestants a ad Meth-

odists. They have all been discontinued except one, the

celebrated Pock Springs Camp Meeting of the Methodists

in east Lincoln. There a great arbor is surrounded by three

hundred tents, and the meeting has been held annually since

1830. It is incorporated after the style of a town, and gov-

erned much the same way. It is held on forty-five acres of

ground, conveyed 7th August, 1830, by Joseph M. Mundy
to Freeman Shelton, Richard Proctor and James Bivings,

trustees of the Methodist Episcopal Church, Lincoln circuit.

The estate an owner has in a lot is conditional, and ceases

upon failure to keep and maintain a tent on it. The meet-

ing continues one week and embraces the second Sunday in

August. It is attended by all denominations from the sur-

rounding counties by from ten thousand to fifteen thousand

people. Deep religious interest is manifest and many date

their conversion from these meetings. Viewed from a social

standpoint this is also a great occasion. The old camp ground

combines the best elements of social life in the country, city

and summer resort. Rock Springs is the successor of an

older camp ground called Robey's, which was situate near

the Catawba Springs.

The memory of the old people runs back to the time when
the printing press had not filled the churches with hymn
books, when there were no church organs, nor organists to

lead the choir. In those days the congregations sung, being

led by a precentor called the clerk, a man of importance, and

the minister lined out the hymn. Pour young men from

Lincolnton attended a camp meeting. When the minister

lined out a couplet of a familiar hymn, the congregation fol-

lowed the clerk, sung the couplet and paused for the next
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The four boys, filled with the spirit of John Barleycorn,

paused not, but in well-trained musical voice, carrying the

several parts finished the stanza; then the second and the

entire hymn to the dismay of the minister, the clerk, and

dumbfounding of the congregation. A charge of disturbing

public worship was preferred in the courts, conviction fol-

lowed and the offenders sentenced to sit one hour in the

stocks.

Most of the people in l^orth Brook, the western township in

the county, are Methodist Protestants, and they have one

church, Fairfield, near the Catawba River on the eastern side

of the county.

Long Creek was the first Baptist church established in

Lincoln County, either in 1772 or 1777. It is on Long

Creek, one mile from Dallas. Hebron was organized at

Abernethy's Ferry on the Catawba about 1792. Six miles

from Beattie's Ford was Earhardt's church, constituted in

the 18th century. Abraham Earhardt, upon whose land the

church was located, was an ordained minister and preached

at his church and elsewhere. He married Catharine Forney,

sister of Peter, Abram and Jacob Forney, and owned more

than a thousand acres of land, on which he operated a fiouring

mill, tan yard, blacksmith shop and a distillery. The

Earhardt place is now the home of Maj. W. A. Graham.

To-day the Baptists have churches in every section of the

county.

The act of the Provincial Assembly in 1768, erecting that

portion of Mecklenburg County west of the Catawba into a

separate county by the name of Tryon, also created Saint

Thomas Parish ; and, according to the custom of that day,

county and parish were coterminous. While nominally under

a church establishment, no clergyman of the Church of Eng-

land exercised any pastoral care in colonial days. In 1785

Robert Johnston Miller, afterwards known as Parson Miller,
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came to Lincoln, and became the religious teacher, lay reader,

and catechist of the Episcopalians he found in the county.

While avowing himself an Episcopalian, he received Lutheran

ordination. In 1806 he resigned his Lincoln charge to David

Henkel, a Lutheran licentiate, and removed to Burke. From

1785 to 1823, Parson Miller was almost the only Episcopal

minister in this region. In 1823 John Stark Eavenscroft

was elected Bishop, Parson Miller, being in the chair. The

Bishop visited Lincoln County in 1824, and in the three

parishes of Smyrna, White Haven and St. Peter's confirmed

forty-one persons. In 1828 he again visited Catawba Springs

and endeavored to collect the remains of the three old parishes

in that neighborhood, but found it a hopeless task. While at

the Springs he preached at Beattie's Ford and "on Sunday

in the public room at the Springs to such of the company as

a very rainy day detained from visiting a camp meeting in

the vicinity." In the year 1835 Dr. Moses A. Curtis, the

noted botanist, was stationed at Lincolnton. The year 1837

found him in another field. On the 2d of March, 1842,

Col. John Hoke conveyed to "E. M. Forbes, Jeremiah W.
Murphy, T. 'N. Herndon, Michael Hoke, Leonard E. Thomp-

son and Haywood W. Guion, vestry and trustees of the

Saint Luke's church in Lincolnton, the lot on which Saint

Luke's church yet stands. Its rectors have been Rev. E. M.
Forbes, Rev. A. F. Olmstead, Rev. J. C. Huske, Rev. T. S.

W. Mott, Rev. H. H. Hewitt, Rev. C. T. Bland, Rev. G. M.
Everhart, and Rev. Dr. W. R. Wetmore for forty years

—

from 1862 mitil his death.

Rev. Robert Johnston Miller was born in Scotland July

11th, 1758. His parents designed him for the ministry,

and sent him to the Dundee classical school. Before he en-

tered the ministry he migTated to America, arriving in

Charlestown, Massachusetts, A. D. 1774. Soon after the colo-

nies declared their independence and young Miller at once
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espoused the cause of liberty, and when General Greene

passed through Boston, he enlisted as a Revolutionary soldier.

He participated in the battles of Long Island, where he was

wounded in the face, of Brandywine, White Plains, and the

siege of Valley Forge. With the army he traveled south,

where he remained after peace was restored and the army

disbanded. He began his work as a licentiate of the Episco-

pal Church without authority to administer the sacraments.

His people of White Haven church, in Lincoln County, sent

a petition to the Lutheran pastors of Cabarrus and Rowan,

with high recommendations, praying that he might be or-

dained by them, which was accordingly done at St. John's

church, Cabarrus County, on the 20th of May, 1794. His

ordination certificate reads : "To all to whom it may concern.

Greeting: Whereas, A great number of Christian people in

Lincoln County have formed themselves into a society by the

name of White Haven church, and also have formed a

vestry : We the subscribers having been urged by the pressing

call from the said church to ordain a minister for the good

of their children, and for the enjoyment of y^ gospel ordi-

nances among them, from us, the ministers of the Lutheran

Church in ISTorth Carolina, have solemnly ordained," etc.,

* * * "according to y^ infallible word of God, administer

ye sacraments, and to have y® care of souls ; he always being

obliged to obey y^ rules, ordinances and customs of ye Chris-

tian Society, called y^ Protestant Episcopal Church in Amer-

ica," etc. This White Haven was situated near the Catawba,

on the opposite side of the great highway from Castanea

Presbyterian church. The Lutherans subsequently built a

White Haven three miles north on the same highway. Rev.

Miller attended the Episcopal Convention, held in Raleigh,

April 28th, 1821. His object was to connect himself fully

with the Episcopal Church, to which he really belonged. As

there was no Episcopal diocese at the time of his ordination
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in the State, he felt it his duty to form a temporary connec-

tion with the Lutheran Church, was admitted a member of

the Lutheran ISTorth Carolina Synod at its organization in

1803, and labored for her welfare twenty-seven years, until

1821, when he severed that connection, and was ordained to

deacon's and priest's orders in the Episcopal ministry. Mr.

Miller likewise attended the Lutheran ISTorth Carolina Synod

in 1821, and from its minutes the following is quoted: "The

president now reported that the Eev. R. J. Miller, who had

labored for many years as one of our ministers had been or-

dained by the Bishop of the Episcopal Church as a priest

at a convention of that church ; that he had always regarded

himself as belonging to that church, but because the Epis-

copal Church had no existence at that time in this State,

he had himself ordained by our ministry, with the under-

standing that he still belonged to the Episcopal Church.

But as the said church had now reorganized itself (in this

State) he has united himself with it, and thus disconnected

himself from our Synod, as was allowed him at his ordi-

nation by our ministers. Eev. Miller then made a short

address before Synod and the congregation then assembled,

in which he distinctly explained his position, so that no

one should be able to say that he had apostatized from our

Synod, since he had been ordained by our Ministerium as a

minister of the Episcopal Church. He then promised that

he would still aid and stand by us as much as lay in his

power. With this explanation the whole matter was well

understood by the entire assembly, and was deemed perfectly

satisfactory. Whereupon it was resolved that the president

tender to Rev. Miller our sincere thanks, in the name of the

Synod, for the faithful services he had hitherto rendered our

church. This was immediately done in a feeling manner."

Mr, Miller died in 1833. One of the last acts of his minis-

try was to marry in that year Col. Michael Hoke and Miss
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Frances Burton, daughter of Judge Robert H. Burton. The

marriage took place at Beattie's Ford. A carriage was sent

to bring Mr. Miller from Burke to solemnize it. Some time

after marriage Colonel and Mrs. Hoke were confirmed. One

of their sons is the distinguished Confederate General,

Eobert F. Hoke.

Col. W. L. Saunders, eminent authority, pays the State a

tribute (Col. Records, IV, Pref. jSTotes), that applies to Lin-

coln County : ''Remembering the route that General Lee took

when he went into Pennsylvania on the memorable Gettys-

burg campaigTi, it will be seen that very many of the JSTorth

Carolina boys, both of German and Scotch-Irish descent, in

following their great leader, visited the homes of their an-

cestors, and went thither by the very route by which they

came away. To Lancaster and York counties in Pennsyl-

vania, ISTorth Carolina owes more of her population than to

any other part of the known world, and surely there was

never a better population than they and their descendants

—

never better citizens, and certainly never better soldiers."

As the waters of the Catawba, that lave its eastern border,

and the South Fork, that flows through its center, united as

they left old Lincoln in their onward sweep to form the

Great Catawba, so have the settlers on the Catawba and the

South Fork merged into a Scotch-Irish-German people, pre-

serving the virtues, and mayhap the weaknesses, of a noble

ancestry. These settlements will be noticed separately.

THE SCOTCH-IRISH SIDE.

Early in the eighteenth century the Scotch-Irish emi-

grated to Pennsylvania, and from thence some came direct,

while others, and their descendants settled in Virginia before

coming to this section. A few of these settlers may have

been of other nationalities, but a careful writer has referred-

to this part of the country as "one of the areas of iJ^orth Caro-
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lina, dominated hj the sturdy Scotch-Irish strain ; where the

thistle and the shamrock were planted toward the close of

the eighteenth century; where they throve and flourished,

and unaided produced results marvelous for the place and

time. The Scotch gumption and Irish ardor, finely blended,

was the patrimony of this section."

On the early maps the Great Catawba marked the tribal

division between the Catawbas and the Cherokees. East of

the river dwelt the Catawbas, once a numerous and powerful

people. This nation "writ its name in water," the Catawba

embahns it and it will be perpetuated while its majestic

waters flow

"To where the Atlantic lifts her voice to pour

A song of praise upon the sounding shore."

As the white settlements extended, the Cherokees receded

toward the setting sun, and occupied the peaks of the Blue

Ridge. Roving bands raided the settlements. One of the

Beattys went into the range in search of his cattle. He was

discovered and pursued by the Indians. When within a

mile of home he concealed himself in the hollow of a large

chestnut tree. The bark of his little dog disclosed his hiding

place and cost him his scalp and his life. The old chestnut

disappeared long since, but the place where it stood is yet

well known.

Jacob Forney and two of his neighbors were attacked by a

band of Cherokees. One of them, Richards, was wounded

and scalped. Forney, though shot at many times by the

Indians, reached his log fort in safety. The neighbors buried

poor Richards where he fell.

"No useless coffin enclosed his breast,

Nor in sheet nor in shroud they wound him."

The site of his lone grave in the depth of the wildwood is yet

pointed out, situate near the old log fort where Jacob Forney

first settled.
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Among the settlers on this side occur the names, Allen,

Anderson, Armstrong, Baldridge, Ballard, Barkley, Barnett,

Beal, Bell, Beatty, Black, Bradshaw, Brevard, Bryant,

Cherry, Childers, Cooper, Cox, Daily, Davis, Derr, Duncan,

Edwards, Graham, Hunter, Hutchinson, Jetton, Johnston,

Kelly, Kincaid, King, Knox, Little, Long, Lowe, Luckey,

Lynch, McAlister, McCaul, McCombs, McConnell, McCor-

mick, Mcintosh, McLean, McMinn, IsFixon, Proctor, Regan,

Reid, Robinson, Shelton, Stacy, Thompson, Wilkinson, Win-

gate, and Womack; while in the western part, are found,

Alexander, Baxter, Blackburn, Cobb, Goodson, Henderson,

Hill, McBee, McCaslin, Potts, Ramsey, Williamson, Wilson,

and others.

The first pale-face to set foot on the soil of Lincoln was

the bold pioneer, John Beatty. One of his land grants bears

date July I7th, 1749. He settled on the west bank of the

Catawba. The shoal at this point, over which the river tum-

bles with a gentle murmur, forms a splendid ford. It was

at this ford John Beatty crossed, and it yet bears his name,

Beattie's Ford. As the soil of Lincoln at Beattie's Ford felt

the primal tread of Anglo-Saxon, Beattie's Ford deservedly

figTires largely in the recital.

The old pioneer, John Beatty, located his home above the

ford, in the shade of the hillside, overlooking the beautiful

Catawba. IsTear by gurgled a limpid spring, its waters trick-

ling off in a sparkling brooklet to the river. John Beatty

had two sons, Thomas and Abel, and one daughter, Mary, the

wife of Matthew Armstrong. It is always interesting to

hear the last words of the departed. John Beatty's will bears

date 5th January, 1774. In this he gives to Margaret Beatty

certain items of personalty and his homestead to William

Beatty. These were his grandchildren, the children of

Thomas Beatty. Marked traits of his character are apparent

in this document. A short quotation will exhibit his love
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for rectitude and obedience, and desire to keep his homestead

in the line of his o^vn blood : "And if j" above named Mar-

garet or William Beatty or either of them does misbehave or

be disobedient when come to j"" years of maturity, either

going against their parents will in the contract of marriage

or any way remarkable otherwise, that legatee is liable to y^

loss of his part of this legacy, and to be given to y^ other, the

offending person entirely cut off at their parents discretion,

or those that it may please to have the guardian and care

over the above-mentioned persons William and Margaret

Beatty. And further I do not allow the said lands that is

left to y*" above named William Beatty to be ever sold or dis-

posed of by any means or person whatsoever, but to firmly

remain and continue in the line and lawful heirs of the above

named William Beatty's body and to continue in that name

as long as there is a male heir on the face of the earth, and

after for the lack of a male heir to y*^ nighest female heir."

Thomas Beatty died in 1787, leaving three sons, John,

Thomas, and William. The inventory of his estate exhibits

in minute detail the entire possessions of a well-to-do man
of the pioneer period. A few items ranging between his

broad acres and a fine-toothed comb will indicate the extent

and variety of his possessions : "944 acres of land, ten negroes,

seventeen horses, sixty-six cattle, eighteen hogs, thirteen

sheep, thirty-four geese, five ducks, lot poultry, five pewter

dishes, sixteen pewter plates, twenty-four pewter spoons, one

pewter basin, one pewter tankard, one crook and two pot

hooks, one dutch oven, and griddle and frying pan, one dough

trough, one chest, two spinning wheels, and one big wheel,

three pair cards, cotton, wool, and tow, one .check reel, one

weaving loom, twenty-three spools, for spooling cotton, five

reeds for weaving, nine sickles, one foot adze, one thorn

hack, one hackel, two iron wedges, two bleeding lances, one

hair sifter, two riddles, three gimlets, thirteen bushels flax
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seed, six bushels buckwheat, one slide, two bells and collars,

750 clapboard nails, four pair half worn horse shoes, one

redding comb, one fine-toothed comb, three coats and one

great coat, two jackets, one pair buckskin breeches, one pair

trousers, three hats and two linen shirts," constitute about

one-fourth of the articles enumerated.

In the pioneer stage every man was his own carpenter,

and the women knew how to card, spin, weave, and sew. The

men wore linen shirts and buckskin breeches; the women,

arrayed in their own handiwork, were beautiful in the eyes

of the forester. The patrimony of the son was broad acres

;

the dowry of the daughter was a horse and saddle, cow and

calf, a spinning wheel and check reel. The young men were

gallant, and the young maids charming. The young men
learned the art of horsemanship not only in the chase, but

by the constant habit of traveling on horseback, and every

woman was an expert horse-rider. The horse sometimes

served as a tandem, the man riding in front, the woman be-

hind; and, if trustworthy tradition is given credence the

young men sometimes augTQented the pleasure of this sys-

tem of equestrianism by making their steeds caper, thereby

frightening their innocent companions into a firm embrace

to retain their positions.

Most of the early Scotch-Irish were Presbyterians, and

the religious center was Seattle's meeting house. This place

of worship was established by the pioneer, John Beatty, one

mile west of Beattie's Ford. The meeting house stood on a

level plat of ground in a beautiful grove of oak and hickory

near a spring. Beattie's meeting house was built of logs.

In 1808, it was decided to erect a more commodious edifice,

and a plat of several acres was conveyed for the purpose by

James Little to "James Connor, Alexander Brevard, John

Eeid and Joseph Graham, trustees." The kirk is named in

the deed, Unity. In 1883 another church was erected and
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additions to the former church lands made by conveyances

from Kobert H. Burton, W. S. Simonton, and Mary King to

"John D. Graham, D. M. Eorney, and John Knox, trustees."

This is the conventional structure of that period with its gal-

lery and large pulpit.

From the first settlement this was a place of worship. The

headstones date back to 1776. Dr. Humphrey Hunter, a

native of Ireland, and soldier in the Revolution, was pastor

from 1796 to 1804. Next came Rev. Henry K. Pharr. He
was succeeded by Patrick Sparrow. Mr. Sparrow's father

was a potter in Vesuvius furnace. When lads the future

Governor Graham was hard put to it to keep pace with Pat-

rick, and the members of the Governor's family ascribed

some of his success to this auspicious rivalry in the old-field

schools. General Graham, thus having the lad's aptitude

brought to his attention, interested others with him in giving

Patrick an education. AVhen he became pastor of Unity an

old negro servant of General Graham's expressed her sur-

prise at his rise of fortune, by exclaiming that the boy who

ate ash cakes with her children had become her master's

preacher. Mr. Sparrow was the first professor of lang-uages

at Davidson College, and afterwards President of Hampden-

Sidney. The present pastor is Rev. C. H. Little, descended

from a pioneer family.

About the year 1790 Maj. John Davidson, with his sons-

in-law, Maj. Joseph Graham and Capt. Alexander Brevard,

crossed from the Mecklenburg side into Lincoln, and with

Gen. Peter Forney engaged in the manufacture of iron.

These were all Revolutionary soldiers. The beginning of

the nineteenth century witnessed civilization progress with

leaps and bounds. Then followed years of plenty. The

virgin soil brought forth bountifully. Herds of cattle and

droves of swine ranged at large unrestrained by any stock

law. Deer, turkey, wild geese and duck abounded. The
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Catawba was filled with shad, trout and red horse. A track-

less wilderness had been transformed into a moving, popu-

lous community. Instead of the wigwam, was the home-

stead dwelling. Instead of the Indian war-whoop, was to be

heard the furnace blast breathing forth actual and potential

energy, and the stroke of the gTeat trip hammer at the

mighty forge as it beat the heart throbs of commercial activ-

ity. They were years of peace and growth, of marriage and

home-building, of quiet domestic happiness.

The different grants to the Beattys approximate three

thousand acres. William and John Beatty sold to John

FuUenwider, an early iron master; and Thomas Beatty to

Alfred M. Burton. Mr. FuUenwider divided his purchase

between his sons-in-law, Alfred M. and Kobert H. Burton;

they settled on their splendid estates and became potent influ-

ences in the community. Alfred Burton settled above the

ford, the old John Beatty house constituting one wing of the

residence he erected. Robert H. built a spacious mansion be-

low the ford. They were learned lawyers and elegant gen-

tlemen. Their dust reposes in Unity graveyard, beside that

of their kinsman, Hutchings Gr. Burton, once Governor of the

State. Robert H. Burton filled the ofiice of Superior Court

Judge. After Judge Burton's death his homestead was pur-

chased by Col. John H. Wheeler, the genial historian.

Colonel Wheeler filled the ofiice of State Treasurer and many
positions of trust, but is best known for his great work,

"Wheeler's History of l^orth Carolina." This he compiled

at Beattie's Ford, devoting to it about ten years' time. The

preface bears date, "Ellangowan, Beattie's Ford, N". C, 1st

July, 1851."

Thi'ee brothers—Charles, James and Henry Connor

—

from Antrim, Ireland, settled near Beattie's Ford. James

was a captain in the Revolution. Henry, the youngest, a

patriot soldier, located near Cowan's Ford. Colonel Wheeler
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sold out at Beatty's Ford to Maj. Henry W. Connor, the son

of Charles. Major Connor derived his title for service under

General Graham in the campaign against the Creek Indians.

He was a man of great popularity and represented his dis-

trict in Congress twenty-three years. His homestead was

identical with Judge Burton's.

Skilled physicians of sweet memory are William B. Mc-

Lean and Eobert A. McLean, father and son. The elder

was a son of Dr. William McLean, a continental surgeon,

resident in the forks of the Catawba.

Jacob Forney first settled on the creek near the present

town of Denver, the scene of his Indian troubles. This farm

passed to his son, Capt. Abraham Forney, a soldier of the

Revolution, and yet belongs to his descendants. Gen, Peter

Forney, son of the pioneer, was a patriot soldier, member of

the House, Senate and Congress. As presidential elector,

he voted for Jefferson, Madison, Monroe, and Jackson. He
erected a forge at his home and Madison furnace on Leeper's

Creek, that was afterwards evened by J. W. Derr. He ob-

tained possession of valuable ore beds, and commenced build-

ing his iron works in 1Y87, and. recorded that he produced

hammered iron in his forge 26th August, 1788.

Maj. Daniel M. Forney, eldest son of Gen. Peter Forney,

received his title in the war of 1812, also served as Senator

from Lincoln County, and member of Congress. He erected

a palatial residence, modeled after a house at the national

capital. The site chosen is an eminence between, two creeks,

where Jacob Forney lived when the British quartered on

him. This picturesque old mansion, with its long white col-

umns, surrounded by a grove of original oaks, yet retains the

charms of its ancient architecture. Major Forney sold to

Alexander F. Gaston, a son of Judge Gaston. It next passed

to James Anderson, and is now owned by Mrs. W. E. Hall.

Henry Y. Webb, Bartlett Shipp, William Johnston, C. L.
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Hunter, and Christian Keinhardt, married daughters of Gen.

Peter Forney. Henry Y. Webb was a lawyer and repre-

sented Lincoln County in the House of Commons. Bartlett

Shipp was a lawyer, a member of the Legislature, and of the

constitutional convention of 1835. His son, William M.

Shipp, was a member of the House of Commons, Senator,

Superior Court Judge, and Atttorney-General of the State.

W, P. Bynuni married Eliza, daughter of Bartlett Shipp,

and settled on the Henry Y. Webb homestead. He was an

eminent lawyer. Colonel in the Confederate Army, Solicitor

of his district, and Justice of the Supreme Court. His son,

William S. Bynum, was a Confederate soldier, lawyer and

Episcopal clergyman.

William Johnston, a physician, married ISTancy Forney,

and located at Mt. Welcome, General Forney's homestead.

His five sons were gallant Confederate soldiers. William

H., Eobert D., and James F. entered the service in the

Beatty's Ford Rifles, which was mustered into service as

Company K, 23d Regiment ; William H. and James F. won

captains' commissions; while Robert D., by promotion be-

came a distinguished Brigadier General; Joseph F., late

Governor of Alabama and now United States Senator from

that State, was Captain of Company A, 12th Regiment;

Bartlett S. Johnston served in the Confederate States ISTavy.

Dr. William Johnston was a son of Col. James Johnston, a

soldier of the Revolution, one of the heroes of King's Moun-

tain, the first Senator from Lincoln, and elder at Unity.

When Gaston County was set up from Lincoln, Colonel John-

ston's homestead on the Catawba fell in Gaston County. Dr.

C. L. Hunter was a scientist and historian. He was the son

of Rev. Humphrey Hunter, a soldier in the Revolution.

Mary, daughter of Gen. Peter Forney, married Christian

Reinhardt, a planter, and they migrated west.

4
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Joseph Graham attained the rank of major in the Revolu-

tion and his title as general in 1814, when commissioned

Brigadier-General and sent in command of North Carolina

troops to aid General Jackson in the Creek War. To his

narratives of the battles of Ramsour's Mill, King's Mountain

and Cowan's Ford is largely due the preservation of the

Revolutionary history of this section. John D. Graham, his

eldest son, retiring from Vesuvius furnace, erected a brick

residence on the Catawba below Beattie's Ford, now the home

of his son. Clay Graham. James was a lawyer and politi-

cian, representing his district in Congress sixteen years.

William A., the general's youngest son, read law and located

at Hillsboro for the practice of his profession. He was twice

Governor, United States Secretary of the I^avy, and Con-

federate States Senator, and candidate for Vice-President on

the Scott ticket. Pure and spotless in private life, a learned

lawyer, a ripe scholar, a statesman of ability and clear judg-

ment, he is esteemed by many as the greatest man produced

by the State of iSTorth Carolina. William A. Graham, son

of the Governor, Major and Assistant Adjutant-General, his-

torian and author, the present Commissioner of Agriculture,

resides at Forest Home, the ancestral homestead.

Robert Hall Morrison, D.D., the first President of David-

son College, an eminent divine, was the honored pastor of

Unity for forty years. He married Mary, daughter of Gen

eral Graham. Cottage Home, his homestead, is intimately

associated with the Confederacy, for it was there that J. P.

Irwin, Lieut.-Gen. D. H. Hill, Lieut.-Gen. Stonewall Jack-

son, Brig.-Gen. Rufus Barringer, Maj. A. C. Avery, and

Col. John E. Brown, respectively married Harriet, Isabella,

Anna, Eugenia, Susan, and Laura, daughters of Dr. Morri-

son. His sons were Maj. William W. Morrison, Joseph G.

Morrison, A.D.C., on General Jackson's staff, Robert. H.

Morrison, A.D.C. to General Barringer and General Hill.
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His youngest son, Alfred J. Morrison, was a lawyer, politi-

cian, and Presbyterian minister.

Alexander Brevard early received a captain's commission

in the Continental Army. He built Mount Tirzah and Reho-

both furnaces. Captain Brevard's homestead passed to his

son Robert A. Brevard, then to his grandson, Alexander F.

Brevard, and upon his death to Brevard McDowell, a great-

grandson. Captain Brevard and General Graham were hon-

ored elders at Unity, but were buried in a private cemetery

of their selection where Macpelah Church was afterwards

built. Vesuvius furnace passed into the hands of J. M.

Smith, a man who by his own initiative and endeavor rose to

position and influence and left a name distinguished for

good sense, kindness of heart, and business tact. He built

Stonewall furnace, on Anderson Creek.

On the post road between Beattie's Ford and Vesuvius fur-

nace are the Catawba Springs, a famous resort in ante-bellum

days. This was formerly Reed's Springs, owned by Capt.

John Reed, a soldier of the Revolution and Senator from Lin-

coln County. Valuable factors of this community are the

Asburys and Mundys, descendants of Rev. Daniel Asbury

and Rev. Jeremiah Mundy, pioneer Methodist ministers.

Rev. Daniel Asbury, when a youth, was taken by a band (/f

Shawnee Indians, carried to the far northwest and held in

captivity five years. In 1791 he established in Lincoln

County the first Methodist church west of the Catawba

River. Rev. Jeremiah Mundy was a native of Virginia and

located in Lincoln County in 1799. He was a soldier in the

Revolutionary War three years and a minister for thirty-five

years.

As one thinks of the old country 'squire who sott]ed dis-

putes between his neighbors, of the kind-hearted physician,

and the "lords of the manor," it seems "there were giants in

those days." But life was not all serious; it had its great
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sunsiiiny side. They were apt at repartee, fond of the inno-

cent joke, and in social intercourse, peals of laughter went

the merry round ; for, has not the wisest of men said, "there

is a time to laugh" ? And, alas, in those halycon days, they

loved not the flagon to excess, but indulged a morning horn

to ward off the rising vapors, and the invitation to sample

the liquid contents of the sideboard was a mark of hospital-

ity. The sweet women, the embodiment of all that is true,

charming and good, raised high the standard of social purity.

The blushing bride became the uncrowned queen of the

home, around which the husband entwined the noblest affec-

tions of his heart. In this genial clime the pioneers found

a fertile land, undulating with hills and vales, chequered

with creeks and rills, and bountifully supplied with springs.

One mile west of Seattle's Ford, and flowing for some dis-

tance parallel with the river, is a large branch. On this

they found a maritime city, with streets of water through

meadows green, the habitation of the beaver. This animal

had felled trees, builded a great dam, ponding the waters

over many acres, so it was called Beaver Dam Branch. The

Burton mill was situate on the site of the old beaver dam.

The water from the pond was conducted through a race to

the great overshot wheel, the motive power of the mill. On
the ridge between the Ford and Beaver Dam Branch three

highways came together. At their convergence was situate

the village of Beattie's Ford with its mercantile establish-

ments. One of these roads was the great stage line via Lin-

colnton and Salisbury connecting far distant points. The

post-office of Beattie's Ford supplied a wide extent of country.

The approach of the stage was announced by winding blasts

from the long tin horn of the driver.

Exhaustless iron beds were discovered in other sections in

connection with limitless coal veins, and the fires of the

charcoal furnace were quenched, and the furnace blast and
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forge hammer were heard no more. Some of the leading

spirits opposed the entrance of railroads, and their tracks

were laid over other routes. Trade centers sprang up on

their lines, and the stores at Beattie's Ford were closed. The

long interregnum of peace came to an end. The noise of

war was again heard in the land, and this section suffered in

blood and treasure and shattered homes.

THE DUTCH SIDE.

The German settlers came from Pennsylvania. Their

ancestors and some of them came from Germany. Their

settlement covers the whole of the county, except the eastern

portion bordering on the Catawba, and in this portion among

the Scotch-Irish were the German families of Cloninger,

Earnhardt, Forney, Hager, Lockman, Keever, Killian,

ISTantz, Silford and others. The names of the German pio-

neers deserve special mention, and many follow: Aderholdt,

Anthony, Arndt, Bangel, Benick, Beisaner, Beam, Bolinger,

Boyles, Botz, Coulter, Dellinger, Better, DeVepaugh, Dietz,

Eddlemon, Finger, Freytag, Gantzler, Gross, Haas, Hafner,

Helderman, Hallman, Hartzoge, Houser, Heedick, Heil,

Heltebrand, Henkel, Hoke, Huber, Hull, Jared, Jonas, Jundt,

Keener, Kizer, Kistler, Klein, Kneip, Krauss, Kuhn, Lantz,

Leeper, Lehnhardt, Leonard, Lingerfelt, Link, Lohr, Loretz,

Lorentz, Lutz, Michal, Miller, Mosteller, Plonk, Propst,

Quickel, Ramsauer, Rein, Reinhardt, Rieb, Rinck, Rudisill,

Sain, Scheidel, Schenck, Schufordt, Scronce, Seigel, Shrum,

Seitz, Shoup, Shull, Siginon, Speigel, Strutt, Summerrow,

Troutman, Tutherow, Warlick, Weber, Weckesser, Wehunt,

Weiand, Weiss, Wetzstein, Wisenhunt, Workman, Yoder,

Zimmerman.

Many of the American names have been anglicised, and the

spelling changed. To be a Zimmerman when one could be

a Carpenter was too unprogressive. Likewise Weber be-
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came Weaver, Kruss, Grouse ; Huber, Hoover ; Freytag, Fri-

day ; Gantzler, Cansler ; Heil, Hoyle ; Jundt, Yount ; Kulin,

Coon; Klein, Cline; Eieb, Keep; Weiss, Wise; Wetzstein,

Whetstone ; and so with many others.

They selected the finest lands and settled along the streams.

Their first dwellings were log cabins, then followed the red-

painted mansion. A few of the old red-painted houses, built

near the spring, yet stand, monuments of a bygone age. They

have always built large barns. Sweet memories of the pio-

neers, and many valuable papers linger among their descend-

ants. To give some illustration of pioneer times and condi-

tions a few notes of one family will be made.

Derrick Ramsour came with the pioneers about 1750. He
erected a mill on Clark's Creek, near its junction with the

South Fork River,' that was a noted industry and place in

colonial days. The subjects of the king often divided their

estates to prevent the oldest son becoming sole heir under the

English law of primogeniture. In April, 17Y2, impelled by

natural love and affection, he conveyed his property to his

two surviving sons, Jacob and David; first, however, re-

quiring them to enter into a bond in the sum of one thousand

pounds proclamation money for his support, conditioned that

they pay unto him every year during his natural life, ^'fifteen

pounds proclamation money, twenty-five bushels clean, sound

wheat, twenty-five bushels Indian corn, fifty-two pounds of

good butter, four hundredweight of good wholesome beef,

one-sixth of the net profits of the fruit trees, thirty pounds

sugar, three pounds Bohea tea, two pounds coffee, twelve gal-

lons of whiskey, four bushels of malt, one bushel of salt."

They also engaged to erect "a commodious and convenient

residence for him, the said Derrick Ramsour, in order to live

retired with a sufficient store and store room, and furnish the

same with the necessary furniture sufficient for his accom-

modation which building is to be erected on such a part of
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the premises as he, the said Derrick Eamsour, pitches upon."

Also to find for him "one good feather bed and decent and

necessary furniture, and find and provide for him sufficient

firewood, ready hauled to his dwelling, to be cut a foot length

as often as occasion or necessity shall require ; and also to

supply him with a gentle riding horse, saddle, and bridle to

carry him wheresoever he may require to go, together with a

sufficient and necessary stock of wearing apparel both woolen

and linen, warm and decent, and becoming one of his cir-

cumstances to w^ar, together with the proper food and wash-

ing during his natural life."

Then by bill of sale he conveys to his sons Jacob and

David his "whole stock of black or neat cattle running on

the said lands whereon I now live, or to be found in the woods

or range, whether in my own proper mark, or the mark of

those from whom I might heretofore have purchased; also

all and singular my horses, mares, colts, yearlings, etc., which

of right doth or ought to belong to me, whether at this time

in my actual possession, or running their range at large, also

all my stock of hogs and sheep, be the same more or less in

number, wherever to be found, together with my wagons,

gears, plows, harness, still and vessels, plantation and car-

penter tools of every kind whatsoever."

To Jacob he conveys the plantation situate in the forks of

the South Fork Eiver and Clark's Creek and adjoining

tracts, in all 960 acres, including the mill. This tract ad-

joins the western limits of Lincolnton. The residence erected

for Derrick stood beside that of Jacob on the slope of the hill

a few hundred feet to the west of the mill that was destined

to become historic during the Revolution. The South Fork

River, in a great bend, forms its junction with Clark's Creek.

In this bend are three hundred acres of fertile bottom. Jacob

Ramsour died in 1787, and was buried in a private burying

ground, on the highest part of the ridge west of his house.
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To David Eamsour he conveyed six hundred acres lying

three miles farther np the river. This tract is likewise situ-

ate in a great bend of the river including a broad sweep of

level bottom. On this farm to-day is the one-story cabin,

built of immense hewn logs, erected by David Ramsour, a

relic of pioneer days and architecture. The great stone chim-

ney is built entirely inside the house with fireplace seven feet

across, over which is the mantel nine feet long hewn out of a

log. In the chimney are cross bars from which the pot-hooks

were suspended to hold the cooking utensils in position over

the fire. This cabin occupies a knoll, commanding a fine

view with picturesque surroundings. It slopes toward the

south forty yards to the river. IvTear by is the rock-walled

spring, with stone steps leading down to its cool waters,

shaded by giant white oaks. Next stands the old red-painted

mansion characteristic of the early Dutch, built by his son,

John Hamsour, every part of which is put together with hand

forged nails. A little way out in the bottom is the brick

mansion of Jacob Eamsour, son of John. These, with the

modern residence of Thomas J. Ramsour, in view of each

other, standing in a radius of half a mile, represent four

generations of the Eamsour family. On a gentle knoll in the

great bottom is the family burying ground, where rests Jacob

Eamsour, who died in 1785, and many of his descendants.

The Germans encountered many hardships incident to the

settlement of a new country, but one of their most trying

ordeals was the change of their language from their native

German to English. They called themselves Dutch and their

language Dutch, and so are called to this day both by them-

selves and others. The pioneer Germans were Lutherans

and Eeformed, and they usually occupied the same house of

worship, where on alternate Sabbaths they worshiped, and

this is still the case in a number of churches. Four miles

northwest of Lincolnton the pioneers established a place of
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worship and a schoolhoiise called Daniel's, on a tract of fifty

acres, but did not take a gi'ant. In 1767 a grant was issued

to Matthew Floyd for the tract of fifty acres including a

"schoolhouse." In 1768 it was purchased by E'icholas War-

lick, Frederick Wise, Urban Ashehanner, Peter Statler,

Peter Summey and Deter Hafner, who conveyed it to the

'*'two united Congregations of Lutherans and Calvinists."

The services were in German, and the records written in

German script until 1827. On this tract each has a brick

church and by them stands the brick schoolhouse. Eleven

miles east of Lincolnton, on the great highway is the site of

the "Old Dutch Meeting House," The deed is from Adam
Cloninger to the "German Congregation of Killian's Settle-

ment." The first church lot in Lincolnton was conveyed

June 10th, 1788, to Christian Eeinhardt and Andrew Hed-

ick, trustees for the "societies of Dutch Presbyterians and

Dutch Lutherans" of the town and vicinity, "for the intent

and purpose of building thereon a meeting house for public

worship, schoolhouses, both Dutch and English, and a place

for the burial of the dead." This was called the old White

church and occupied the site of the present Lutheran church.

The reference in title deeds to "Calvinists," and "Dutch

Presbyterians" is to the German Reformed or, as now known,

the Eeformed Church.

The pioneers brought with them Luther's German trans-

lation of the Bible. No dust was allowed to gather on this

precious volume. These have been handed down from gene-

ration to generation, and in almost every family to-day can be

found the Dutch Bible of the pioneers printed in a language

now considered foreign, yet justly esteemed precious heir-

looms.

Rev. Johann Gottfried Arndt came from Germany as a

school-teacher in 1773, and was ordained into the Lutheran

ministry in 1775. He died in 1807 and was buried beneath

the old White church in Lincolnton, The inscription on his
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tombstone is in German, above it an eagle and thirteen stars,

and the motto of the new republic, E plurihus unum. The

Keformed preacher of this time was Rev. Andrew Loretz, a

native of Switzerland. He died in 1812 and was buried at

Daniel's. On the gable of his mansion, outlined in colored

brick, are the initials of his name and the date, A. L. 1793.

Only the German v/as used during their pastorates. Living

in the same county, and preaching in the same churches,

these godly men were devoted friends, and engaged that

whichever died first should be buried by the survivor. The

Lutheran pastor at Daniel's is Rev. Luther L. Lohr, and in

Lincolnton Rev. Robert A. Yoder, D.D., descendants of the

Dutch settlers. While Rev. William Ramsour Minter, pas-

tor of the Presbyterian church in Lincolnton, is a grandson

of Jacob Ramsour,' and great-grandson of David Ramsour,

both elders in that church; David Ramsour was a son of

Jacob Ramsour, owner of the historic Ramsour's Mill.

The ISTorth Carolina Synod held an historic meeting in

the ''old White church" in May, 1820. Then occurred the

first rupture in the Lutheran Church in the iN evv- World. The

president maintained his position in a long discourse in the

German, the secretary followed in a longer one in English.

This church and others withdrew and, July 17th, organized

the Tennessee Synod. At its first meeting German was made

the business language and all its transactions were to be pub-

lished in German. In 1825 the minutes were published in

both German and English. In 1826 David Henkle was ap-

pointed interpreter for the members who did not understand

the German, and it was ordered that "the business of Synod

shall be transacted in the German language during the first

three days, afterwards the English shall be used."

But perhaps the greatest hindrance was in the State. The

English was the dominant language. The laws were writ-

ten and expounded in English, and all public affairs con-



THE HISTORY OF LINCOLN COUNTY. 167

ducted in that language, and this prevented many from active

participation in public affairs. The change was gradual, but

was perhaps most marked between the years 1820 and 1830.

The entire German population outgrew the use of the Ger-

man tongue. In their pulpits no longer is it heard, nor have

they German schools. ISTow the Pennsylvania Dutch is

seldom ever heard, and even the accent and idiom remain on

but few tongues; yet it is sometimes observed in the use of

the letters v and w, b and p, t and d. This is seen in some

of the family names; Bangel and Pangie are the same name;

likewise Boovey and Poovey, Tarr and Darr; David Darr

was called Tavy Tarr. A venerable elder of fragrant mem-

ory, when the preacher ascended the pulpit to begin ser-

vice, was accustomed to step to the door and proclaim to

those outside, "De beobles will now come in, te breaching is

reaty."

The Pennsylvania Dutchman had his humorous side, for

"A little nonsense now and then

Is relished by the best of men."

They had their sports and amusements, their holidays and

gala days, their Easter fun and Kriss Kringle frolics. Many
of their sports and amusements partook more of skill and

labor than dissipation and debauchery, such as corn-

shuckings, choppings, log-rollings, house-raisings, spinning-

matches, quiltings and the like, tending to manly vigor and

modest womanhood, and brightening the links of friendship

and brotherly love. By hunting deer and turkey, the squir-

rel and other game they became expert riflemen. In the fall

of the year shooting-matches were common, the usual prize

a quarter of beef or a turkey. A witness at court, when

asked to fix the date of a certain transaction, replied "at

shooting-match time." They were gTcat fanciers of fine

stock, and the old Dutch farmer never felt more lordly than
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when hauling great loads with his sleek team of horses. The

race track also had its devotees. Two prominent Germans

were once called to the bar of the church for some cause re-

sulting from a noted race run on the Warlick path. The

one who lost expressed proper contrition. The other was

incorrigible. Proud of his horse, the stakes, and exulting

in the plaudits of the community, he promptly responded

'*I not sorry. I von. Mr. H. werry sorry, he loss."

On the Dutch side are many signs and folk lore of in-

terest. The Dutch farmer is a close observer and is often

governed by signs. The moon is a powerful potentate. Its

phases are closely watched, and there is a time to plant every

seed, cut timber and do many things. A champion turnip

grower used an incantation of virtue in casting the seed, re-

sulting in a fourfold quantity. Each time he threw the seed

with his hand he repeated a line of the following:

"Some for the pug,

Some for tlie fly,

Some for the Debil,

And in comes I."

Michael Schenck, in 1813, erected the first cotton factory,

rim by water power, south of the Potomac, It was a small

affair located on a branch, one mile east of Lincolnton, but

proving profitable, attracted Col. John Hoke and Dr. James

Bivins, and they became partners of Michael Schenck. The

firm in 1819 erected the Lincoln Cotton Mills, with three

thousand spindles, on the South Fork, the beginning of the

cotton mill industry in this section. This mill was burned

in 1863.

There are situate in Lincolnton and within four miles along

the South Fork, thirteen cotton mills controlled by descend-

ants of the Dutch. The only cotton mill in the county at the

close of the war was the Elm Grove, owned by John F. Phifer,

now operated by Kobert S. Reinhardt. The Confederate
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States government, about 1864, erected a laboratory for the

manufacture of medicines on the site of the old Lincoln fac-

tory. In 1887, J. A. Abernethy and D, E. Ehyne erected

the Laboratory Cotton Mills on the site of the Confederate

laboratory, E. E. Costner, J. A. Anthony, L. J, Dellinger,

John M. Ehodes, and W. A. Eudisill are mill men. Daniel

E. Ehyne is proprietor of three of these mills. Other suc-

cessful mill men are J. A. Abernethy, Edgar Love, and J.

M. Eoberts. The late Capt. Joseph G. Morrison erected the

Mariposa Mills, at the old Forney forge on Leeper's Creek.

Paper mills were operated for many years on the South Fork.

Among the noted manufacturers of paper were William and

Eufus Tiddy.

One of the noted pioneers was Daniel Warlick. His en-

tries approximate three thousand acres. In 1769 he made

division of it among his five sons and four daughters. The

oldest enterprise in the county to-day is the mill he established

on a branch five miles west of Eamsour's. It was once de-

stroyed by the Cherokees. This property has passed from

father to son, and is to-day owned by Jacob E. Warlick, a

great grandson. It is now a modern roller-mill, the motive

power a waterfall of sixty-two feet.

The old highway from Eamsour's Mill to Warlick's Mill

crossed the South Fork Eiver at Eeep's Ford, just below the

present Eamsour bridge. Here lived Adam Eeep and his

brothers, Adolph and Michael, all Whig soldiers. Just to

the west, in a private burying ground, rests Nicholas Heamer,

a patriot soldier and one of the last survivors of the Battle of

Eamsour's Mill.

The subject of dress properly occupies large space in

woman's thought. In the olden time there were no stores

near with heavily laden shelves from which to select, but

they knew how to color, then combine the colors in beautiful

fabrics, and were experts in fine weaving. They perhaps
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were not bothered with gores and biases, frills and puffs, yet

they had their trouble in cutting, fitting, and arranging the

trimming as do those of the present with the latest magazine

and fashion plate. It is certain that in the vigor and strength

of perfect development they were fair to look upon, equally at

home, in the parlor or in the kitchen alive to the wants of

humanity and duty to God. Much of this inspiriting record

is due the examples, counsels and prayers of pious mothers

;

and while the songs of the nursery mingle with lessons of

peace and love, and tender hearts are impressed with re-

ligious truth the result will be men and women of high type.

As the century waned the German citizens were becoming

prominent in public affairs. In 1797, John Eamsour repre-

sented Lincoln County in the House of Commons and twice

afterwards. Th6n follows John Eeinhardt in 1799, Peter

Forney in 1800. Peter Hoyle was elected in 1802 and four-

teen times afterwards; Henry Hoke in 1803 ; David Shuford

in 1806. Then follows Loretz, Killian, Cansler and others,

Henry Cansler was long an influential citizen. He filled

the offices of county surveyor, sheriff, clerk of the court and

member of the General Assembly. His father and grand-

father each wrote his name in the German, Philip Gantzler.

Jacob Costner was one of the first justices of Tryon

County, sheriff of Tryon 1774 and 1775, major of the Tryon

Regiment in 1776, died in 1777. Ambrose Costner, his

great-grandson, planter and financier, was often the popular

representative of Lincoln County in the House and Senate.

John F. Eeinhardt, Confederate soldier, planter, com-

moner and senator, is a gi'eat-grandson of Christian Rein-

hardt, "agent of the Dutch Presbyterians." He owns the

Bartlett Shipp homestead. His father, Franklin M. Rein-

hardt, operated the Rehobeth furnace.

Andrew Hedick, a great-gi-andson of Andrew Hedick,
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homestead. He lost his right arm in the fearful struggle

at Chancellorsville. After the war he attended Pleasant

Ketreat, and prepared himself for school teaching. For

many years he filled the office of county treasurer and is one

of the county's honored citizens. Andrew Hedick is likewise

the survivor of the usually mortal wound of a musket ball

passing entirely through his body, as are also Abel Seagle and

David Keever.

David Schenck, grandson of Michael Sehenck, was a

gi-eat advocate and lawyer, a judge of the Superior Court and

historian. He removed to Greensboro in 1882 and has a

monument in the Guilford Battle-gi'ound.

John F. Hoke, son of Col. John Hoke, won a captain's

commission in the Mexican War, and commanded his com-

pany with gallantry in the battles of Cerro Gordo, Tolema

and JSTational Bridge. He was adjutant-general in j^orth

Carolina, and colonel in the Civil War. He was an able law-

yer and often the representative of Lincoln County in the

General Assembly. His son, William A. Hoke, as citizen,

lawyer, legislator, judge of the Superior Courts, and now

Associate Justice of the Supreme Court, occupies a large

space in public esteem.

Michael Hoke, son of Col. John Hoke, was an eminent

lawyer and an accomplished orator, whose brilliant career

added luster to his county and Commonwealth. The cam-

paign of 1844 justly ranks among the famous in the history

of the State. There were many causes contributing to its

intensity. It was a presidential election. Henry Clay, the

Whig nominee, a matchless orator and the idol of his party,

made a speech in Ealeigh on the 12th day of June of that

year. James K. Polk, of Tennessee, a native of Mecklen-

burg and gTaduate of our State University, was the nominee

of the Democrats, and his party hoped to carry the State.



172 THE NORTH CAROLINA BOOKLET.

The Eepiiblic of Texas was seeking annexation to the United

States, and this was a burning issue. Each political party

was on its mettle, and marshaling its forces for a battle royal.

Standard bearers must be selected with care and the very

best. Each party named a son of Lincoln County as its

candidate for Governor, The Democrats nominated Michael

Hoke, a gentleman of fine person, fine address, of long legis-

lative exjjerience and high position at the bar, whose ease of

manner and brilliancy of oratory won for him troops of

friends. The Whigs were equallj^ fortunate in the selection

of William A. Graham, a man of exalted character and

ability ; and, like his competitor, the fairness of his conduct,

his open, generous temper, and elevated mode of argument

met the highest expectation of his most ardent admirers.

Never in any campaign were two political antagonists more

evenly matched. Both were in the prime of life. Hoke

was only thirty-four, and Graham forty years of age. Both

were strikingly handsome men, tall, well-formed and grace-

ful, of polished manner and placid temper, pure of character

and free from guile. While possessing all these amiable

qualities when it came to the advocacy of the principles of

their respective parties, or assaulting those of the other, they

exhibited the courage of a Washington and the aggressiveness

of a Jackson. The dignified and majestic presence of Gra-

ham was formidably rivaled by the matchless manner and

ready humor of Hoke. Their joint canvass was a battle of

giants. Graham was elected Governor, Clay carried the

State and Polk was elected President. Hoke scarce sur-

vived the campaigTi. He died September 9, 1844, at the

youthful age of 34 years, 4 months and 7 days.

Among the record of baptisms at Daniel's is this, "George

Kuhn, und desen frau ihr sohn George Gebohren den 31 ten

December, 1809, Taufzeugen sind Johnannes Rudisill und

desen frau," which being translated reads, "George Coon and
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his wife, their son George was born the 31st December, 1809,

sponsors John Endisill ard his wife." The infant George

grew into a man full of years and honor. An old French-

man in Lincolnton, Lorenzo Ferrer, often bought farm prod-

ucts from Mr. Coon, and so admired his perfect integTitj,

and "full measure of potatoes," that one of his bequests was

:

"I will and bestow to honest George Koon one hundred dol-

lars."

Lorenzo Ferrer, having been introduced, shall have place in

this history. He was a native of Lyons, France, but spent

his long life from early manhood in Lincolnton. He died

August 16th, 1875, aged ninety-six years. He had his cof-

fin made to order and gave directions concerning his grave.

It is marked by a recumbent slab, supported on marble col-

umns. The first paragraph of his will is in these words

:

"I, Lorenzo Ferrer, here write my last will and testament

whilst I am in possession of my faculties, as I have shortly to

appear at the tribunal of St. Peter at the gate of eternity;

when St. Peter is to pronounce according to my merits or

demerits : for our Lord Jesus Christ entrusted the key of

Heaven to St. Peter and enjoined him to admit the deserving

to enter into Heaven and enjoy an eternal happiness, but to

condemn the undeserving defrauders to the everlasting sul-

phurious flames in the Devil's abode. Therefore, I am en-

deavoring to comfort myself in such a manner in order to

merit an eternal happiness in the presence of God, and his

angels, and in company with St. Peter, St. Paul, St. Titus

and the other saints. For I am anxious to converse with

those happy martyred saints and rejoice with them at the

firmness, patience, and willingness they endured at their

martyrdom for the sake of our Lord Jesus Christ. I am
also in hope to see and embrace my kind friends Michael

Hoke, William Lander, and other good and honest friends

with whom I hope to enjoy an eternal felicity," etc.

5



174 THE ]SrORTH CAROLINA BOOKLET.

Adam Sj)rings approached the dark river with no such

beatific vision. In the confident possession of a soundmind
and good judgment he likewise wrote his own will, the first

part of which follows: "ISTorth Carolina, Lincoln County,

—

Know all men by these presents, that I, Adam A. Springs,

believing himself of sufficient judgment of mind do now set

about making my will in hopes that my surviving fellow-

citizens will aid me in the disposal of my wish. If it should

lack form, I call upon our Constitution. Then I ordain this

my last will and testament as follows: As to my soul or

finer part, whatever it may be, I surrender it to its author

without any impertinent and intrusive requests against the

immutable laws of Deity. In the first place, I will to be

buried alongside of James Henderson on the hill on the east

of the shoals formerly called Henderson's Shoals," etc.

Mr. Springs was one of the first students at the State Uni-

versity, a graduate in the Class of 1798, a large real estate

owner, including among his possession the Henderson Shoals

on the South I'ork, afterwards known as the Spring Shoals,

now McAdensville, where his dust reposes beside James

Henderson. The paper-writing was propounded for pro-

bate, a caveat entered, the issue, devisavit vel 7ion, submitted,

the will established, and executed by his surviving fellow-

citizens according to the true intent and meaning thereof.

A will of marked conciseness and brevity, and the shortest

in the county is that of the late Y. A. McBee. Mr. McBee

was a University graduate, lawyer, three times clerk of the

Superior Court, and left a considerable estate in North and

South Carolina. His entire will with date and signature

contains but twenty-three words : "I will all my estate, real

and personal to my wife, Mary Elizabeth McBee, this 31st

day of March, 1888. V. A. McBee."

Bobert F. Hoke and Stephen D. Ramseur, twin soldiers

of destiny, became distinguished Major-Generals in the



THE HISTORY OF LIlSTCOLlSr COUNTY. 1Y5

armies of the Confederacy. Their gallant deeds and noble

services added luster to their home and country. The one

survives, honored and loved; the soil of Virginia drank the

precious blood of the other.

The laudable principles, liberty of conscience, health of

state, and purity of morals, the Dutch hold in sacred esteem

;

the great virtues of the home and the common duties of the

good citizens have ever charmed most their ambitions. Of

persistent energy, high purpose, and sturdy inclination, they

have made and are making indestructible footprints of nobly

performed deeds in the varied sands of life that will remain

a memorial to them for all time.

THE CIVIL WAR.

The men of Lincoln County bore an honorable part in the

American Eevolution, and were in evidence in the second

bout with the mother country ; they helped to win Texan inde-

pendence and fought in the Mexican War ; at the outbreak of

the great Civil War, they presented a solid front in defense of

their Southland.

Stephen D. Eamseur, a graduate of West Point, and a

lieutenant in the United States Army, resigned his commis-

sion, tendered his service to the Confederacy and was ap-

pointed captain of artillery ; by promotion he passed through

the grades to the rank of Major-General, and met the death of

a hero at Cedar Creek, on the 19th of October, 1864.

Alvin DeLane was a soldier in the United States ]!^avy,

whose flag was endeared to him by many years service.

When the war clouds gathered a decision was to be made. He
hesitated not ; the battle-cry of the South expressed his senti-

ment and his resolve

:

"In Dixie land I'll take my stand,

And live and die for Dixie."
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In the darkness of the night he scaled the walls of Fort

Sumter with a ladder, which served him many hours as a

float on the briny deep, was rescued, became the hero of

Charleston, and for the next four years a gallant Confederate.

William S. Bynum, the soldier boy, September 25th, 1862,

at the age of fourteen years, enlisted in Company K, 42d

Kegiment, and was a gallant Confederate until the surrender.

Lincoln County furnished the Confederacy eight full com-

panies: (1) The Southern Stars, Company K, Bethel Regi-

ment, William J. Hoke, Captain; (2) Company I, 11th Reg-

iment, A. S. Haynes, Captain; (3) Company K, 23d Regi-

ment, Robert D. Johnston, Captain; (4) Company E, 34th

Regiment, John F. Hill, Captain; (5) Company K, 49th

Regiment, Peter Z. Baxter, Captain; (6) Company G, 52d

Regiment, Joseph B. Shelton, Captain; (7) Company H,

52d Regiment, Eric Erson, Captain; (8) Company G, 57th

Regiment, John F. Speck, Captain ; besides members of

other companies.

Many of the Bethel soldiers won commissions of honor.

Capt. William J. Hoke became Colonel of the 38th Regi-

ment ; Second Lieutenant Robert F. Hoke was promoted

through the grades to the rank of Major-General; Eric Er-

son was Lieutenant-Colonel of the 52d Regiment; William

R. Edwards, Sidney Haynes, John F. Speck, Benjamin F.

Grigg, Peter M. Mull, Lauson A. Dellinger, and James D.

Wells won captains' commissions ; while David A. Coon,

Ed. D. Sumner, W. A. Summerow, and George M. Hoke

were first lieutenants, and Lemuel J. Hoyle, Charles Elmer,

Josephus Houser and Oliver A. Ramsour, second lieutenants.

John F. Hoke was Brigadier-General and Adjutant-Gen-

eral of the State. Through him the volunteer regiments

were organized. He was the first Colonel of the 23d Regi-

ment, and at the surrender was Colonel of the 73d Regiment.
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William Preston Bynnm entered the service as first lieu-

tenant of the Beattie's Ford Eifles ; this company was mus-

tered in as Company K, 23d Eegiment; he was promoted

Lieutenant-Colonel, and Colonel of the 2d Regiment.

Robert D. Johnston, second lieutenant of the Beattie's

Ford Rifles, rose by promotion for gallantry to the rank of

brigadier-general. He was wounded at Seven Pines, Gettys-

burg and on the Catawba River.

Other commissioned ofiicers: Colonel—Samuel D. Lowe.

Lieutenant-Colonels—Hiram W. Abernethy and Charles J.

Hammarskold. Majors—Sidney M. Finger and William

A. Graham. Captains—James T. Adams, Phillip W. Car-

penter, A. H. Houston, G. W. Hunter, James F. Johnston,

William H. Johnston, Joseph F. Johnston, James M. Kin-

caid, Milton Lowe, Joseph G. Morrison, George L. Phifer,

Benjamin H. Sumner, Woodberry Wheeler, and C. C. Wren-

shall. First Lieutenants—Peter S. Beal, John H. Boyd,

John P. Cansler, William H. Hill, Wallace M. Reinhardt,

Daniel Reinhardt, and Thomas L. Seagle. Second Lieu-

tenants—Thomas Abernethy, William Arndt, William H.

Hill, Wallace M. Reinhardt, Daniel Asbury, George W.
Beam, Caleb Bisaner, John Caldwell, Eli Crowell, Henry

Eaton, Henry FuUenwider, John F. Goodson, Emanuel

Houser, Bruce Houston, Lee Johnston, Thomas Lindsey,

William M. Monday, John Rendleman, Samuel Rendleman,

David Rhodes, Alfred Robinson, Samuel Thompson, W. A.

Thompson, Henry Wells and Rufus Warlick. Chaplains

—

Robert B. Anderson and Eugene W. Thompson.

Summary—Two major-generals, one brigadier-general,

four colonels, three lieutenant-colonels, two majors, two

chaplains, twenty-eight captains, sixteen first lieutenants,

thirty-three second lieutenants and 1,219 non-commissioned

officers and privates, a gTand total of 1,311 Confederate

soldiers.
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OUR STATE MOTTO AND ITS ORIGIN.

BY CHIEF JUSTICE WALTER CLARK.

The General Assembly of 1893 (chapter 145) adopted the

words "Esse Quam Videri" as the State's motto and directed

that these words with the date "20 May, 1775," should be

placed with onr Coat of Arms upon the great seal of the

State.

The words "Esse Qioam Yideri" mean "to he rather than to

seem" and are a suitable recognition of the honest, sturdy,

unpretending character of our people. Beside the motto of

the Union, "E Pluribus Ununi," nearly every State has

adopted a motto. With few exceptions these mottoes are in

Latin. The reason for their being in Latin and not in Eng-

lish is not far to seek. Owing to the Latin tongue expressing

the different forms of the verb and of the noun by a mere

change in termination, and not, as in English, by the addi-

tion of particles and prepositions, it is far more condensed

and terse. The three words, "Esse Quam Videri" require

the use of at least six English words to express the same

idea. For this reason mottoes are most usually in Latin.

Cu.riosity has been aroused to learn the origin of our State

motto. It is found in Cicero in his Essay on Friendship

(Cicero de Amicitia, chap. 26) though it is not there used in

the same sense now ordinarily attached to it. He says,

"Virtute enim ipsa non tarn multi prediti esse quam videri/'

i. e. "Virtue is a quality which not so many desire to possess

as desire to seem to possess," or, translated literally, "For

indeed not so many wish to he endowed with virtue as wish to

seem to he."

But in reality the phrase can be traced much farther back.

It was used by the Greek poet Eschylus in the famous tragedy



180 THE NOKTH CAROLINA BOOKLET.

"The Seven against Thebes." In line 592 of that play, it is

said (not nsing the Greek letters for want of proper type)

"ou gar dokein aristos, alV einai ihelei." Truly this is the

identical sentiment of "Esse Quam Videri." Plutarch, in

his Life of Aristides, chap. 3, says that when this line was

pronounced in the theater all eyes were turned upon Aristides

"the Just," who was present.

Socrates expressed nearly the same idea in his Apologia,

36 E, where he says that the victor of Olympia "makes you

seem to be happy, but I make you so."

The phrase is a striking one and Cicero's version of it has

been caught up and often used as a motto. In that best col-

lection of mottoes extant, the "Coats of Arms of the British

Peerage" no less than three noble houses have adopted it, to

wit : the Earl of Winterton, Earl Brownlow and Lord Lur-

gan.

It has been adopted by many associations, especially lit-

erary societies. In this State it is the motto of Wilson Col-

legiate Institute and, with some modifications, of one of the

societies at Wake Forest College.

The sentiment and its expression are good enough. It is

appropriate to ISTorth Carolina, and her sons will make it

memorable and distinguished. Among our sister States it

can proudly take its place between the "Sic Semper Tyranr

nis" of Virginia and the "Animis, Opihusque Parati" of

South Carolina.

The figures on our State Coat of Arms are Liberty and

Plenty. It has been objected that the motto has no refer-

ence or application to the figures on the Coat of Arms. It is

very rarely that such is the case. The national motto, "E
Plurihus Unum/^ has no reference to the Eagle and Shield

and the Thunderbolts on the national Coat of Arms. Il^or has

the "Excelsior" of New York, the "Dirigo" of Maine, the

"Qui Transtvlet, Sustinet" of Connecticut any application
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to the figures above them. Indeed Virginia's ''Sic Semper

Tyrannis" is one of the very fev^ instances in which the motto

hears snch reference. But, in fact, is our motto so entirely

without reference to the Coat of Arms as is usually the case ?

The figures are, as just stated, Liberty and Plenty. Is it in-

appropriate to say we prefer to he free and prosperous than

seem to he so ? There have been States that had all the ap-

pearance of liberty and prosperity, when in truth having lost

the reality of both, they were tottering to their fall.

Indeed, as the learned and accomplished president of one

of our State colleges has observed, "The motto has a deep

philosophical meanii]g; one might evolve a whole system of

metaphysics from the two basal ideas in it, that of being

{esse) and that of phenomenality {vlderi) on which two

poles the whole of modern theories of knowledge have hung."

It is a little singular that until the act of 1893 the sover-

eign State of Korth Carolina had no motto since its declara-

tion of independence. It was one of the very few States

which did not have a motto, and the only one of the original

thirteen without it. It is very appropriate too that simul-

taneously with the adoption of the State motto, there was also

placed on the State Seal and Coat of Arms, the date of the

Mecklenburg Declaration of Independence—the earliest of

all American Declarations—the ever-memorable 20 May,

1775.

It may be noted that up to the time it became a "sovereign

and independent State" the Colony or Province of ISTorth

Carolina bore on its great seal ''Quae sera tamen respexit."

This was taken from the first Eclogue of Virgil (line 27) and,

referring to the figure of Liberty, meant "Which, tho late,

looked upon me"—the full line in Virgil being "Liberty,

which tho late looked upon me indolent." ISTo wonder that this

was dropped by the new State. jSTothing could possibly have
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been more inappropriate. Liberty came not to her late, but

the first of all the American States. And it came not to a

people inert or nnseeking her rewards. To such, liberty

never comes. But she came to l^orth Carolina, to a people

energetic, earnest, devoted, seeking her smiles as a lover

wooing a beauteous maiden, and in the pursuit tireless, as a

sleuth hound seeking its quarry. Here first she came. As

Burns said of Summer, on the banks of bonnie Doon, Liberty

"Here first unfolds her robe,

And here may she longest tarry."

It may be mentioned, to prevent any misunderstanding as

to the scope of the Act of 1893 (now Revisal, sec. 5320) that

it does not apply to County Seals. Each county is author-

ized to adopt its own seal, Eevisal, sec. 1318 (24). Many
counties now have on their county seals the appropriate

phrase, ''Leges Juraque Yindicamus." Some have adopted

the State motto. But this is a matter left to the discretion

of the county commissioners in each county.

It might be well to go further and, following the example

of many States, adopt a State tree and flower. As appropri-

ate to our State the writer, with diffidence, suggests the

adoption of the White Oalc as emblematic of the sturdy vigor

of the manhood of J^orth Carolina and the Violet as typical

of the beauty, modesty and sweetness of its women.

Note by the Editors.—The bill which was passed in 1893 to adopt

our State motto was introduced by Senator Jacob Battle, of Nash,

afterwards Judge of the Superior Court. We have before us a letter

from him in which he states that the motto was selected by Judge

—

since Chief Justice—Walter Clark, who also drew the bill and requested

him to present it. He adds that the words "20 May, 1775," secured the

heartj^ cooperation of Senator Brevard McDowell, of Mecklenburg, and

by their joint efforts the bill passed by the unanimous vote of both

hovises of the General Assembly and without amendment.



THE WORK DONE BY THE D. R. IN PASQUO=
TANK COUNTY.

The Sir Walter Ealeigh Chapter of the Daughters of the

Revolution was organized in Elizabeth City a little over two

years ago. Since then the members of the Chapter have been

working quietly, and faithfully, studying the Colonial and

Revolutionary history of the Albemarle section and locating

points of historic interest in this and adjoining counties,

with the purpose of some day having their sites marked with

suitable tablets.

Pasquotank County is rich in such landmarks. E'ear

ISTixonton at Hall's Creek Church, there still stands the stump

of an old oak, under whose branches there met on February

6, 1666, 244 years ago, the first law-making assembly ever

convened in our State. At this spot the Daughters of the

Revolution hope to place a handsome gTanite tablet, com-

memorating the event, early in the spring.

Through the efforts of the Chapter the following interest-

ing places have been located, and with the help of the patri-

otic citizens of Pasquotank County the ladies hope to pre-

serve these landmarks from oblivion.

The first school in the State was in Pasquotank County,

near Salem. This school was taught by Mr. C. Griffin in

1705. The first house of worship, a Quaker meeting house,

was built in Pasquotank on Symond's Creek in 1706.

The first court held in the State was held under an old

tree, which is standing near Flatty Creek. Winslow's farm,

called in Colonial days Winfield or Enfield, was the scene of

the historic "Culpepper's Rebellion," and in one of the rooms

still in good condition, Governor Miller was confined by the

brave revolutionists.

On the banks of the Pasquotank at Brick House Point,

stood Elmwood, the old Swann home, in which, as our Sec-

retary of State, Hon. Bryan Grimes, stated in his speech
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before the State Literary and Historical Association last

year, more distingnished men lived than ever occupied

one residence in JSForth Carolina. At Elmwood lived and

with it were identified two speakers of the Assembly, five

Congi-essmen, one United States Senator, a candidate for

Governor, and a President of the University. Farther up

the river is another old brick house reported to have been

one of the homes of Teach, the pirate. Pasquotank County

furnished two regiments to the Revolutionary army and two

of its bravest generals, Gen. Isaac Gregory and Gen. Peter

Doughe. The former was distinguished by his brave stand

at the disastrous battle of Camden and later, at the close of

the war, drove the Tories out of the State. Gen. Peter

Doughe distinguished himself and did his country noble

service at the battle of Great Bridge in Virginia. The

graves of these two heroes have been located, as has also been

the resting place of John Harvey, "The Father of the Revolu-

tion," and over these now unmarked graves the Daughters

of the Revolution have determined to place suitable stones.

Through the instrumentality of this patriotic organiza-

tion a ISTorth Carolina History Society of twenty members

has been organized among the ladies of the town, and this

society has agTeed to cooperate with the Chapter in its work

of preserving our landmarks. The Chapter has also organ-

ized among the children of the Primary, Grammar and High

Schools a Carolina Memorial Association, the members of

which have agreed to contribute a small sum each year to be

used in placing these tablets at suitable spots throughout the

county. The Regent of the Chapter hopes to interest the

teachers in the county schools in this work also, and to have

all the school children in Pasquotank help in this patriotic

task. The Chapter numbers only eight members so far,

but hopes to add more names to its roll before the close of

the year 1909. C. F. S. A.



BIOGRAPHICAL AND GENEALOGICAL
MEMORANDA.

COMPILED AND EDITED BY MRS. E. E. MOFFITT.

ALFRED NIXON.

Alfred Nixon, the author of the "Sketch of Lincoln

County, jSTorth Carolina, is the son of Kobert i^ixon and

Millie (Womack) iSTixon. He was born at his father's

farm on the 28th day of May, 1856. He is of Scotch-Irish

and German descent ; was reared on his father's farm in Lin-

coln County. His earliest education was acquired in the

public schools ; attended Rock Spring Seminary and prepared

for the University of ISTorth Carolina, where he graduated

in the class of 1881. After returning to his county he filled

many important positions—county surveyor, sheriff, super-

intendent of public instruction, and at the present writing is

clerk of the Superior Court of Lincoln County. Living in

an old historic county, a student of history by taste and cul-

tivation, these 230sitions have afforded him extensive opportu-

nities, not only for acquaintance with the people of every

part of the county but with its past. The following esti-

mate of Mr. ISTixon is given by a j^i'ominent judge of his

county : "Some time after leaving the University he served

as sheriff of his county, to which he was elected several terms,

and no doubt could have continued to hold it if he had so de-

sired. He made a most excellent ofl&cer, kindly in manner,

merciful in disposition, but throughout firm and efficient.

He was elected clerk of the Superior Court and has been con-

tinued in that office, and has filled this important place most

acceptably, showing good judgment, diligence and capacity.

As a man and citizen he holds and deserves to hold the esteem

and confidence of all of his neighbors and fellow-citizens."
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GENEALOGY.

Alfred ISTixon, son of Eobert JSTixon and Millie (Womack)

I*Tixon. Grandson of Robert Nixon and Catherin© (Lnckey)

J^ixon. Catherine Luckey was the daughter of Robert

Luckey and Dorcas (Armstrong) Luckey. He is the great-

grandson of William ISTixon and Elizabeth (Black) ISTixon.

William l^ixon came to Lincoln County from Charlotte

County, Va., in 1780. His ancestors came from Ireland to

ISTew Jersey and from thence to Virginia ; descendants of an

old English family whose history runs back to the thirteenth

century. An early member of which was Sir William ISTyk-

son, who was granted a coat of arms in 1416.

Womack: Millie (Womack) ISTixon, the mother of Alfred

ISTixon, was the daughter of Archibald Womack and Sallie

(Huger) Womack, who emigrated from near Richmond, Va.,

and from where he inherited valuable property.

Huge7\- Sallie (Huger) Womack, the grandmother of

Alfred ]!^ixon was the daughter of John Huger and Sallie

(Stacey) Huger. The Hugers came to Lincoln County

prior to and during the American Revolution ; are of Hugue-

not descent, a noble sect of whom Mr. Winthrop said "has

furnished to our land blood every way worthy of being

mingled with the best that ever flowed in the veins of either

Southern Cavaliers or Northern Puritans."

Mxon, Womack, Luckey, Armstrong and Black came to

Lincoln County from Virginia soon after the Revolutionary

War, and many of their descendants reside in this and other

States.

WALTER CLARK.

Walter Clark, the distinguished Chief Justice of the State,

the author of the article on the "Grreat Seal of North Caro-
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lina," was born in Halifax County, ISForth Carolina, on Au-

gust 19, 1846, and since 1873 lias been a resident of Kaleigh,

]Sr. C. The first of the name Colin Clark came to JSTorth

Carolina from Fifeshire, Scotland. His son, David Clark,

was a prominent man of Halifax County ; one of the

board of internal improvements, one of the originators and a

director of the Roanoke ISTavigation Company, which was

such an important factor in the trade of Roanoke River be-

fore the era of railroads. He had a son named for himself,

David Clark, who was the father of the subject of this sketch.

David Clark, though a man of fine education, entered neither

professional nor public life. He was one of the wealthiest

planters on the Roanoke, a man of wide reading, and with

a great landed interest ; he found ample occupation in super-

intending his estates and among the books in his large private

library. During the war between the States he was commis-

sioned by the State of jSTorth Carolina as a brigadier-general,

and in January, 1862, was assigned to the command of the

defenses of Roanoke River. Other important military ap-

pointments were assigned him on account of his capabilities,

his superior intelligence and his influence over the militia-

men of that section. General David Clark married Miss

Anna M. Thome, of Halifax County, who became the mother

of the subject of this sketch, and through the Thornes Judge

Clark is connected with the well-known families of Hilliard,

Davis, Alston and Williams, and through the Thornes is also

related to General Warren, the distinguished corps com-

mander of the United States Army. Through the Clarks,

Judge Clark is descended from the Blounts, Grays, IsTor-

fleets, McKenzies and other prominent families of northeast-

ern North Carolina, and the Bryans of Southampton, Va.

;

the same family as that from whom William Jennings Bryan

is descended.
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Through the Williams Judge Clark is descended from

Gilbert Johnston, a brother of Governor Gabriel Johnston.

At an early age Walter Clark became a student, first, under

Prof. Ralph H. Graves, in Granville County, and in 1860 at

Colonel Tew's Military Academy near Hillsboro, E". C. In

the spring of 1861, before he not yet fifteen years of age, being

proficient in the drill, he was among the cadets of that insti-

tution who, on recommendation of its ofiicers, were appointed

by the governor to drill the troops assembled at Camp Ellis

near Ealeigh. Upon the organization of the Twenty-second

ISTorth Carolina Regiment in July, he was assigned to duty

as drill-master for that regiment, commanded by Col. J.

Johnston Pettigrew, and proceeded with it to Virginia. He
continued to act in that capacity in its camp at Evansport^

on the Potomac, until J^ovember, when he returned to Camp
Mangum, at Raleigh, where the Thirty-fifth iSTorth Carolina

was being organized. In February, 1862, resigning, he re-

turned to the military academy and resumed his studies. On
August 1, 1862, he was appointed, upon the solicitation of its

ofiicers, who had known him at the camp of instruction, first

lieutenant and adjutant of the Thirty-fifth IS^orth Carolina,

of which Matthew W. Ransom had then become the colonel,

and joining his regiment he participated in the first Mary-

land and Fredericksburg campaigns, and was wounded at

Sharpsburg (Antietam). In the latter battle his brigade held

Marye's Heights and drove back, among others, Meagher's

Irish brigade.

Being then just sixteen years of age and rather small, in

spite of this he performed his duties with great acceptability,

and became a general favorite, enjoying the esteem and re-

spect of both ofiicers and men. He behaved in the battle of

Fredericksburg with coolness and distinguished intrepidity.

In February, 1863, the regiment having returned to ISTorth

Carolina to recruit, there seeming to be no early prospect of
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further active service, Adjutant Clark resigned with the pur-

pose of completing his education, and entered as a student at

Chapel Hill, where he gi-aduated with first distinction on

June 2, 1864. The day after he gTaduated he was elected

major of the Sixth Battalion of Junior Reserves, then or-

ganized for active service by Lieutenant-General Holmes,

and under his command the battalion did service at Golds-

boro, Weldon and at Gaston, protecting the railroad bridge

from a threatened cavalry raid.

On July 4th his battalion and the First were consolidated

into a regiment that became the Seventieth ISTorth Carolina

Regiment of State troops, and in the election of officers Major

Clark was elected lieutenant-colonel,

Lieutenant-Colonel Clark was then seventeen years of age,

and the youngest officer of his rank in either army. At the

request of his colonel later he relinquished this position tem-

porarily (which eventually failed of its purpose) and he was

elected major, in which position he contined to serve during

the remainder of the war. In October this regiment was

ordered to Boykin's Depot, Va., and to the defense of Ply-

mouth, and to Hamilton to guard the approaches to Martin,

Edgecombe and Pitt counties whence large supplies were

drawn for the support of Lee's army.

Early in IsTovember he with four companies were dis-

patched to Williamston where Major Clark took command of

the post, embracing cavalry and infantry as well as artillery.

For one so young this was an important command, but Major

Clark bore himself so well as to justify the confidence re-

posed in him at that time. Captain Moore, speaking of him

at that time, says, "he had the bearing and command of a

born soldier and displayed the executive talent which he has

since shovsm."

On Dec. 25, 1864, the regiment was at the repulse of the
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gunboats at Poplar Point and in other minor encounters.

About the middle of Feb., 1865, it was ordered to

Kinston, IST. C, where it engaged in battle on March Sth and

from thence to Smithfield, IST. C, to join General Johnston^

and from thence to Bentonsville where it engaged the ad-

vance corps of Sherman's armj, which was held in check

three days—the 19th, 20th and 21st of March—during

which time the skirmish line of Major Clark gallantly held

its position the entire period. 'No brigade made a finer ap-

pearance on that field than the Junior Reserves, and it bore

itself with such bravery as to win the highest encomiums

from General Hoke and all the veterans on that field of battle.

While Sherman v/as resting at Goldsboro, General John-

ston remained at Smithfield, but on April 10th began to re-

tire before Sherman's advancing army. On the 12th the

Seventieth Regiment passed through Raleigh and then to

High Point in Randolph County where, on the afternoon of

May 2d, Major Clark, with his associates in arm.s, were

paroled ; and then they dispersed to their respective homes.

As soon as order was restored, Major Clark, who had

studied law under Judge William H. Battle, while a student

at the University, becam.e a student in a law office in Wall

street, New York. Later, completing his course at the Co-

lumbian Law School in Washington, D. C, he obtained

license to practice in January, 1867. He located at Scot-

land !N"eck, but subsequently removed to Llalifax, where he

entered into partnership with Hon. J. M. Mullen, and soon

established a lucrative business. He removed to Raleigh in

1873, where larger opportunities would be opened to him pro-

fessionally, and became one of the leading influences in the

Democratic party.

In April, 1885, was appointed by Governor Scales judge

of the Superior Court for the metropolitan district and was

elected by the people to succeed himself the next year.
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In ^NTovember, 1889, he was transferred to the Supreme

Court bench and subsequently elected to that position in 1890.

Tn 1896, while still on the Supreme Court bench, he was

virtually tendered the nomination of governor, but did not

accept it, preferring at that time to remain on the bench.

In 1896 his name was presented by the North Carolina

delegation to the National Democratic Convention for the

vice-presidency. In 1902 he was nominated for the office of

chief justice and was elected to that position. His opinions

to date appear in forty-eight volumes of North Carolina Su-

preme Court Reports, beginning with 104 N. C.

Judge Clark is an indefatigable worker, and his contribu-

tions to literature have been numerous and notable. Be-

sides the preparation of his judicial opinions he has anno-

tated and edited one hundred and fifteen volumes North

Carolina Supreme Court Reports, He is the author of

numerous other works of national importance. Many of his

articles are of historical character, relating to espisodes in

North Carolina history; his chief work in this line has been

the preparation of the "State Records," a continuation of the

valuable publication begun by Col. Wm. L. Saunders, the

"Colonial Records," running through sixteen quarto vol-

umes, which entailed on him vast labor and is of the highest

historical value. Another great work of still higher interest

is that known as the "Regimental Histories" embraced in

five volumes, in which is preserved the record of each North

Carolina regiment, battalion and division during the war

between the States. To Judge Clark is due the conception

as well as the compilation of this memorial of the courage

and patriotic service of the soldiers of North Carolina in that

great war. The method employed in executing the design is

admirable, recording the story of each organization, while the

articles prepared by some competent member of each regiment

are themselves of unusual merit. In accomplishing the pub-
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lication of these two great works of the State, Judge Clark

has rendered a most important service to the State and to

posterity. Both of these works have been executed by him

as a labor of love without any pecuniary compensation what-

ever.

During his whole career he has been astute to place the

State on a high plane and promote such action as would re-

duund to the credit of l^orth Carolina. Indeed there has

been no man of more versatile gifts and unremitting labor

than Judge Clark, nor has any other of North Carolina's

sons done more to preserve the memorials of her people and

to peipetuate a remembrance of the glorious deeds that have

''adorned them by his learning, virtues and character."

In all the positions which have been tendered him he has

adorned them by his learning, virtues and character.

On January 28, 1874, he had the good fortune to marry

Miss Susan Washington Graham, the only daughter of Hon.

William A. Graham, of Hillsboro, N. C, and they have reared

a most interesting family of five sons and two daughters.

His family is as follows : Mrs. J. Ernest Erwin, of Morgan-

ton ; Capt. David Clark, of Charlotte ; W. A. Graham Clark,

special agent of the Department of Commerce and Labor of

the United States government ; Walter Clark, Jr., City Attor-

ney of Ealeigh; John W. Clark, of Concord; Thome M.
Clark, of Halifax County, and Eugenea G. Clark.

To the N^ORTH Carolina Booklet Judge Clark has been

an unfailing friend, not only by his contributed articles of

historic value but by his continued interest in this work un-

dertaken by the "North Carolina Society of the Daughters of

the Revolution." He contributed an article on the "Indian

Massacre and Tuscarora War" in No. 3 of Vol. II. "Colony
of Transylvania," No. 9, of Vol. III. "Expedition to Car-

tagena in 1740," No. 6, Vol. IV, and the "History of State

Seal," in this number, Vol. IX, No. 3, Jan., 1910.
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The writer is indebted to Capt. Samuel A. Ashe for the

facts of the above sketch, taken from his article on Judge

Clark in Vol. VII of the
''Biographical History of ISTorth

Carolina" (1908). There is no doubt of the authenticity of

these facts since they were obtained from Captain Samuel

A'Court Ashe, a "citizen" of commanding individuality and

one of the best equipped editors and historians of the South

in the last thirty-five vears.



WILLS FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY
OF STATE, RALEIGH, N. C.

Will of John Clarkj of Perquimans. Wife Anne, sons

Jolin and Thomas ; in case of their death property to go to

Simos and Thomas Trumbell. Sarah Trumbell. Sept. 6th,

1716; Nov. 14, 1717.

Richard Evans, of Perquimans ; Sept. 7th, 1692 ; Oct, 2,

1693. Wife Elizabeth, four children, Jonathan, Richard,

Rebecca and Ann Evans. Wife and Alexander Lillington,

Exrs.

Will of John Fendall, of Perquimans; Dec. 17, 1695,

April 8th, 1696. Brother Robert Fendall, wife Elizabeth,

father-in-law Alex. Lillington.

Robert Fendall. Nov. 30, 1711; Isaac Wilson; Thomas

Levy Exor.

George Fort, May 15, 1719
;
prob. October 20, 1719. Son

Eli as Fort, son George Fort, sons John and Samuel Fort

;

daughter Phillis Fibath, daughter Catherine Fort. Wife

Elizabeth ; Elias Fort Exr.

John Fort, AugTist 6, 1745 ; March Court, 1745-6. Sons

John and Moses, daughter Ternshaw's son, Denby, Arthur

Fort.

John Gorbe, I7th, 6th mo., 1693. Wife, son John, daugh-

ter Sarah; cousins Samuel and Joseph Nicholson Exrs.

Test. Rich'd. Dorman.
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Adam Gambell, of Grlasgow, Scotland. Nov. 14tli, 1694.

John Land living in London ; Adam Hill in London ; John

Argy in France; Robert, Thomas and John West, sons-in-

law of Thomas Pollock; John Hunt, brother James Gambell

of Glasgow. Thomas Pollock and John Hunt Exrs. Test.

Henel Gregory, Elizabeth Hunt, W. Lynch.

Will of Joshua Grainger of Wilmington, June 1741 ; wife

Elizabeth, daughter Ann, son Joshua, grandson Wilmington,

son of Joshua ; son Caleb.

Caleb Grainger, I^ew Hanover; October 5, 1765, (main

body of will dated 1763), probated October 31st, 1765. Wife

Mary, daughter Mary Grainger, son Caleb, son Cornelius

Harnett Grainger, son William, child in esse, Maurice

Moore, Cornelius Harnett, Samuel Ashe, Alexander Dun-

can, Exrs. Test. Mary Granger, Margaret Douglass, Ed-

ward Trogerin, Samuel Gidden, Anthony Ward, Joseph

Stockley.

John Hill, of Bath; March 27, 1731. Sons Joshua and

John ; friend Thomas Tison, my children. Wife and Ed-

ward Peads Exrs. Test. Thomas Tison, Harmon Hill,

William ITicholls.

John Hill, IsTorthampton, June 15, 1747. Sons I^^athaniel,

.Daniel Lewis and Peter. Sons ISFathaniel and Daniel Exrs.

Test. William Floaryday, Hosea Tapsley.

William Hill, Chowan, 10th, 1st mo., 1750-51. Grand-

son Aaron, son of Moses Hill ; my father-in-law, Thomas

Spivey; son Moses, grandson Robert Hill, son of Aaron,

daughter Rachel Hill, son William, daughter Sarah Barrow,

wife of Joseph; wife Mary, daughter Mary IsTicholson, daugh-
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ters Susannah White, Leah Moore, and Ruth Davis. Son

Aaron and son-in-law Thomas ISTicholson Exrs. Test. James

Griffin, Jethro Rabej, Ann Peters.

Harman Hill, Beaufort, Dec. 4, 1752 ; Mch. Court, 1Y55.

Wife Sarah, son Harman, daughter Elizabeth Hancock, her

children James and William; Sarah Eice, daughter Ann
Slade, her husband Joseph Slade, daughters Mary Smit and

Eachel Hill. Wife, Joseph Slade and John Barrow Exrs.

Test. Edmund Pierce, Griffith Howell, Joshua Pierce.

(Signed) Mrs. Heleist deB. Wills.

Edwards & Broughton Printing Company, Raleign, N. 0.



INFORMATION
Concerning' the Patriotic Society

''Daughters of the Revolution*'

The General Society was founded October 11, 1890,—and organized

August 20, 1891,—under the name of "Daughters of the American

Revolution" ; was incorporated under the laws of the State of New York

as an organization national in its work and purpose. Some of the mem-
bers of this organization becoming dissatisfied with the terms of en-

trance, withdrew from it and, in 1891, formed under the slightly differ-

ing name "Daughters of the Revolution," eligibility to which from the

moment of its existence has been lineal descent from an ancestor who
rendered patriotic service during the War of Independence.

**^e North Carolina Society"

a subdivision of the General Society, was organized in October, 1896,

and has continued to promote the purposes of its institution and to

observe the Constitution and By-Laws.

Membership and Qualifications

Any woman shall be eligible who is above the age of eighteen years,

of good character, and a lineal descendant of an ancestor who (1) was

a signer of the Declaration of Independence, a member of the Conti-

nental Congress, Legislature or General Court, of any of the Colonies

or States; or (2) rendered civil, military or naval service under the

authority of any of the thirteen Colonies, or of the Continental Con-

gress; or (3) by service rendered during the War of the Revolution

became liable to the penalty of treason against the government of Great

Britain: Provided, that such ancestor always remained loyal to the

cause of American Independence.

The chief work of the North Carolina Society for the past eight years

has been the publication of the "North Carolina Booklet," a quarterly

publication on great events in North Carolina history—Colonial and

Revolutionary. $1.00 per year. It will continue to extend its work and

to spread the knowledge of its History and Biography in other States.

This Society has its headquarters in Raleigh, N. C, Room 411, Caro-

lina Trust Company Building, 232 Fayetteville Street.



Some North Carolina Booklets for Sale

Address, EDITOR, Raleigh, N. C.

Vol. I

'Greene's Eetreat," Dr. Daniel Harvey Hill.

Vol. II

'Our Own Pirates," Capt. S. A. Ashe.

'Indian Massacre and Tuscarora War," Judge Walter Clark.

'Moravian Settlement in North Carolina," Rev. J. E. Clewell.

'Whigs and Tories," Prof. W. C. Allen.

'The Revolutionary Congresses," Mr. T. M. Pittman.

'Raleigh and the Old Town of Bloomsbury," Dr. K. P. Battle.

'Historic Homes—Bath, Buncomb Hall, Hayes," Rodman, Blount,

Dillard.

'County of Clarendon," Prof. John S. Bassett.

'Signal and Secret Service," Dr. Charles E. Taylor.

'Last Days of the War," Dr. Henry T. Bahnson.

Vol. Ill

'Trial of James Glasgow," Kemp P. Battle, LL.D.

'Volunteer State Tennessee as a Seceder," Miss Susie Gentry.

'Historic Hillsboro," Mr. Francis Nash.

'Colony of Transylvania," Judge Walter Clark.

'Social Conditions in Colonial North Carolina," Col. Alexander Q.

Holladay, LL.D.

'Battle of Moore's Creek Bridge, 1776," Prof. M. C. S. Noble.

'North Carolina and Georgia Boundary," Mr. Daniel Goodloe.

Vol. IV
'Battle Ramseur's Mill, 1780," Major Wm. A. Graham.

'Quaker Meadows," Judge A. C. Avery.

'Convention of 1788," Judge Henry Groves Connor.

'North Carolina Signers of Declaration of Independence, John Penn
and Joseph Hewes," by Mr. T. M. Pittman and Dr. E. Walter Sikes.

'Expedition to Cartagena, 1740," Judge Walter Clark.

'Rutherford's Expedition Against the Indians," Capt. S. A. Ashe.

'Changes in Carolina Coast Since 1585," Prof. Collier Cobb.

'Highland Scotch Settlement in N. C," Judge James C. McRae.

'The Scotch-Irish Settlement," Rev. A, J. McKelway.
'Battle of Guilford Court-house and German Palatines in North Caro-

lina," Major J. M. Morehead, Judge O. H. Allen.

'Genesis of Wake County," Mr. Marshall DeLancey Haywood.



Vol. v.— (Quarterly).
No.1.

"St. Paul's Church, Edenton, N. C, and its Associations," Richard

Dillard, M.D.
"N. C. Signers of the National Declaration of Independence, Part II,

William Hooper," Mrs. Spier Whitaker.

No. 2.

"History of the Capitol," Colonel Charles Earl Johnson.

"Some Notes on Colonial North Carolina, 1700-1750," Colonel J. Bryan
Grimes.

"North Carolina's Poets," Eev. Hight C. Moore.

No. 3.

"Cornelius Harnett," Mr. R. D. W. Connor.

"Celebration of the Anniversary of May 20, 1775," Major W. A.
Graham.

"Edward Moseley," by Dr. D. H. Hill.

No. 4.

"Governor Thomas Pollok," Mrs. John W. Hinsdale.

"Battle of Cowan's Ford," Major W. A. Graham.

"First Settlers in North Carolina Not Religious Refugees," Rt. Rev.
Joseph Blount Cheshire, D.D.

Vol. VI-(Quarterly.)
No. 1.

"The Indian Tribes of Eastern North Carolina,' Richard Dillard, M.D.

"History Involved in the Names of Counties and Towns in North Caro-
lina," Kemp P. Battle, LL.D.

"A Colonial Admiral of the Cape Fear" (Admiral Sir Thomas Frank-
land), Hon. James Sprunt.

"Biographical Sketches: Introduction; Maj. Graham Daves." By Mrs.

E. E. Moffitt.

October, No. 2.

"The Borough Towns of North Carolina," Mr. Francis Nash.

"Governor Thomas Burke," J. G. de Eoulhac Hamilton, Ph.D.

"Colonial and Revolutionary Relics in the Hall of History," Col. Fred.

A. Olds.

"The North Carolina Society Daughters of the Revolution and its

Objects."

"Biographical Sketches: Dr. Richard Dillard, Mr. Francis Nash, Dr.

J. G. de R. Hamilton and Col. Fred A. Olds," Mrs. E. E. Moffitt.

January, No. 3.

"State Library Building and Department of Archives and Records,"

Mr. R. D. W. Connor.

"The Battle of Rockfish Creek, 1781," Mr. James Owen Carr.

"Governor Jesse Franklin," Prof. J. T. Alderman.

"North Carolina's Historical Exhibit at Jamestown," Mrs. Lindsay
Patterson, Miss Mary Hilliard Hinton.
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"Biographical Sketches: Mrs. S. B. Kenneday, R. D. W. Connor,
James Owen Carr and Prof. J. T. Alderman," Mrs. E. E. Moffitt.

April, No. 4.

"Lock's Fundamental Constitution," Mr. Junius Davis.

"The White Pictures," Mr. W. J. Peele.

"North Carolina's Attitude Toward the Revolution," Mr. Robert Strong.

Biographical Sketches: Richard Benbury Creecy, the D. R. Society

and Its Objects, Mrs. E. E. Moffitt.

Genealogical Sketches: Abstracts of Wills; Seolley, Sprott and Hunter,
Mrs. Helen de B. Wells.

Vol. VI!. (Quarterly.)
July, No. 1.

" North Carolina in the French and Indian War," Col. A. M. Waddell.

" Locke's Fundamental Constitutions," Mr. Junius Davis.

" Industrial Life in Colonial Carolina," Mr. Thomas M. Pittman.

Address: "Our Dearest Neighbor—The Old North State," Hon. James
Alston Cabell.

Biographical Sketches: Col. A. M. Waddell, Junius Davis, Thomas M.
Pittman, by Mrs. E. E. Moffitt; Hon. Jas. Alston Cabell, by Mary
Hilliard Hinton.

Abstracts of Wills. Mrs. Helen DeB. Wills.

October, No. 2.

"Ode to North Carolina," Miss Pattie Williams Gee.

" The Finances of the North Carolina Colonists," Dr. Charles Lee
Raper.

" Joseph Gales, Editor," Mr. Willis G. Briggs.

" Our First Constitution, 1776," Dr. E. W. Sikes.

"North Carolina's Historical Exhibit at Jamestown Exposition," Miss
Mary Hilliard Hinton.

Biographical Sketches: Dr. Kemp P. Battle, Dr. Charles Lee Raper,
Willis Grandy Briggs, Pattie Williams Gee. By Mrs. E. E. Moffitt.

January, No. 3.
" General Robert Howe," Hon. John D. Bellamy.

" Early Relations of North Carolina and the West," Dr. William K.
Boyd.

" Incidents of the Early and Permanent Settlement of the Cape Fear,"
Mr. W. B. McKoy.

Biographical Sketches: John Dillard Bellamy, William K. Boyd, Wil-
liam B. McKoy. By Mrs. E. E. Moffitt.

April, No. 4.

"St. James's Churchyard" (Poem), Mrs. L. C. Markham.
"The Expedition Against the Row Galley 'General Arnold'—A Side

Light on Colonial Edenton," Rev. Robt. B. Drane, D.D.
" The Quakers of Perquimans," Miss Julia S. White.
" Fayetteville Independent Light Infantry," Judge James C. MacRae.
Biographical Sketches: Mrs. L. C. Markham, Rev. R. B. Drane, Miss

Julia S. White, Judge James C. MacRae. By Mrs. E. E. Moffitt.



Vol. VIII.—(Quarteriy )

July, No. 1.

"John Harvey," Mr. R. D. W. Connor.

"Military Organizations of North Carolina During the American Revo-
lution," Clyde L. King, A.M.

"A Sermon by Rev. George Micklejohn," edited by Mr. R. D. W. Connor.

Biographical and Genealogical Sketches: R. D. W. Connor, Clyde L.

King, Marshall DeLancey Haywood, by Mrs. E. E. Moffitt.

"Abstracts of Wills," Mrs. Helen DeB. Wells.

October, No. 2.

"Convention of 1835," Associate Justice Henry G. Connor.

"The Life and Services of Brigadier-General Jethro Sumner," Kemp
P. Battle, LL.D.

"The Significance of the Mecklenburg Declaration of Independence,"
Prof. Bruce Craven.

"Biographical and Genealogical Sketches: Judge Henry G. Connor,
Kemp P. Battle, LL.D., Prof. Bruce Craven," by Mrs. E. E. Moffitt.

January, No. 3.

"The Mecklenburg Declaration of Independence," Mr. A. S. Salley, Jr.

"The Mecklenburg Declaration of Independence," Prof. Bruce Craven.

"Mr. Salley's Reply."

"Mr. Craven's Rejoinder."

"Biographical and Genealogical Sketches: Prof. Bruce Craven, Mr.
Alexander, S. Salley, Jr.," by Mrs. E. E. Moffitt.

"Patriotic Objects."

"Information Concerning the Patriotic Society D. R."

April, No. 4.
"Unveiling Ceremonies."

"Carolina," by Miss Bettie Freshwater Pool.

"The Battle of King's Mountain," by Dr. William K. Boyd.

"Schools and Education in Colonial Times," by Dr. Charles Lee Smith.

"North Carolina Heroines of the Revolution," by Richard Dillard, M.D.

"Biographical and Genealogical Sketches: Bettie Freshwater Pool, Wil-
liam K. Boyd, Charles Lee Smith, Richard Dillard," by Mrs. E. E.

Moffitt.



The North Carolina Booklet

A QUARTERLY PUBLICATION ISSUED UNDER
THE AUSPICES OF THE

NORTH CAROLINA SOCIETY DAUGHTERS OF THE REVOLUTiOr

THIS PUBLICATION treats of important

events in North Carolina History, such

as may throw light upon the political, social

or religious life of the people of this State

during the Colonial and Revolutionary

periods, in the form of monographs written

and contributed by as reliable and pains-

taking historians as our State can produce.

The Ninth Volume begins in July, 1909.

TERMS OF SUBSCRIPTION:

One Year, One Dollar; Single Copies, Thirty-five Cents.

Miss Mary Hilliard Hinton, Mrs. E. E. Moffitt, Editors,
Raleigh, North Cai'olina.

Registered at Raleigh Post-office as second class matter.

Notice should be given if the subscription is to be discon-
tinued. Otherwise it is assumed that a continuance of the sub-
scription is c'esired

Send all orders for back numbers to Mrs. E. E. Moffitt,
Raleigh, N. C.

All communications relating to subscriptions should be
sent to

Miss Mary Hilliard Hinton,

Midway Plantation, Raleigh, N. C.



Genealogical Department

I^ORTH CflRoiiiNA Society
DflDOHTERS OF THE REVOliUTIOfl

YOUR ANCESTRY CAN BE CAREFULLY TRACED

The Colonial and State Records of North Carolina, Pay-rolls of Revo-
lutionary Soldiers filed in State Auditor's Office, County

Records, Family Records, State Histories and
Biographies will be diligently

examined.

Fee for Such Researches, S7.00 to SlO.OO,
according to Difficulty of Research (not

less than $7.00 paid with order).

Write for particulars, enclosing stamp for reply, to

Mrs. Helen DeBerniere Wills.

Kindly remit by money order. (^Genealogist for N. C. D, R.)

Raleigh, North Carolina.

COATS-OF-ARM S
PAINTED

Coats-of-Arms painted, decorated with helmet, lambrequin, etc.,

and enclosed in passe partout $12 00

Same style and size, but unframed 10 00

A painted Coat-of-Arms, without helmet lambrequin, etc., un-

framed 5.00

India Ink Drawing of Arms 5.00

Searches for Coats-of-Arnn, including (if found) a small sketch

of the arms - 8.00

Arms burned on wood 5.00

Book plat s designed.

Write for particulars, enclosing stamp.

Miss Mary Hilliakd Hinton.

"Midway Plantation,"

Raleigh, North Carolina.



The Science of Accounts
SINGLE AND DOUBLE ENTRY

Book-- keeping
A TEXT BOOK FOR PUBLIC SCHOOLS

The Graded School Edition. 65 pages, 25 lessons; cloth. Price, 65 cents. Will be
ready August 1st.

The Hig-h School Edition. 130 pages, 50 lessons, and supplement; cloth bound.
Price, $1.00, sent prepaid. This edition will be ready September 1st.

A 32-pag-e Booklet with 10 Sample Lessons will be sent free to any subscriber
to the N. C. Booklet who applies for it.

Address
GEORGE ALLEN^, Ealei&h, N. C.

Smith's Old Book Store oooonNorthSinfand^s^^^VJllULll CJ \7l\A. L^\j\Jii. W4.V/x^
ern history. 25 years in business.„,.,.,„ J TT < J T7 All kinds of books and relics

Raleigh, N. C. and Richmond, ¥a. bought and sold.

IFYOU WILL SEND US A POSTAL
and mention theN. C. Booklet,
we will send you

THREE FREE SAMPLE COPIES OF THE PROGRESSIVE FARMER.

The Progressive Farmer should be read by every North Carolina man or woman who
owns or operates a farm, and every farm owner should see that all his tenants read it

" In increased production and valuation of farm and stock. The Progressive
Farmer has made me $100 to every $1 I have paid for it,"

says J. M. Parris, Jackson County, N. C.

THE PROGRESSIVE FARMER, RALEIGH. N. C.

North Carolina Eiducation
(Formerly N. C. Educational at Durham, I^. C.)

Is a wide-awake monthly devoted to every phase of education
in North Carolina. If you are interested in any phase of it, then
KortlH Carolina liiclucat^oii should interest you.

One Dollar a Year is the Price
Edited by E. C. Brooks, Chair of Education in Trinity College,
Durham, N. C, and W. F. Marshall, President Mutual Pub-
lishing Co., Raleigh, N. C.

Address, W. F. MARSHALL, Publisher, 108 W. Mariin Street, Raleigh, N. G.



ESTABLISHED BY CHAPTER 767, PUBLIC LAWS OF 1 803

AMENDED BY CHAPTER 714, PUBLIC LAWS OF 1907.

MEMBERS
J. BRYAN GRIMES, Chairman Raleigh, N. C.

W. J. PEELE Raleigh, N. C
THOS. W. BLOUNT Ropee, N. C.

M. C. S. NOBLE Chapel Hill, N. C.

D. H. HILL Raleigh, N. C.

SECRETARY.

R. D. W. CONNOR - - - - Raleigh, N. C.

PURPOSES.
1. " To have collected from the files of old newspapers, court records,

church records, private collections, and elsewhere, historical data pertain-
ing to the history of North Carolina and the territory included therein
from the earliest times."

2. "To have such material properly edited, published by the State
Printer as other State printing, and distributed under the direction of the
Commission."

8. "To care for the proper marking and preservation of battleflelds,
houses and other places celebrated in the history of the State."

4. " To diffuse knowledge in reference to the history and resources of
North Carolina."

5. " To encourage the study of North Carolina history in the schools of
the State, and to stimulate and encourage historical investigation and
research among the people of the State."— Section 2, Chapter 714, Public
Laws of 1907.

The Secretary wishes to correspond with any person who is willing

to assist the Commission, by gifts or loans or manuscripts, in-

formation of the whereabouts of such documents, or

otherwise in carrying out the above purposes.

jRddress all Communications to tbc Secretary



Zhz Btlantic jpfre Hitsurance

Company
Ifidlddb, IHortb Carolina.

SOLICITS YOUR PATRONAGE

CASH CAPITAL $125,000

A HOME COMPANY, OWNED AND OPERATED

BY HOME PEOPLE.

CHAS. E JOHNSON, President. H. W. JACKSON, Treasurer.

J. G. BROWN, Vice-President. G. H. DORTCH, Secretary.

CAPITAL $100,000.00 SURPLUS $100,000.0

"Pre

Commercial National Banit

RALEIGH. N. C.

The policy of this bank is to conduct its business along

the most conservative lines; to restrict its opera-

tions to legitimate enterprises; to elimi-

nate all speculative ventures.

OFFICERS
B . JERMAN, President. H. W. JaCKSON, Cashier.

A. A. THOMPSON, Vice-President. E. B. CROW, Asst. Cashier.

J. J. THOMAS, Chairman of Board.



CITIZENS NATIONAL "BANK,
RALEIGH, N. C.

Our customers are guaranteed every accommodation their
business, balances and responsibility warrant.

THE OLDEST BANK—LARGEST BANK—AND
ONLY NATIONAL BANK IN RALEIGH.

JOS. G. BROWN^, President. HENRY E. LITCHFORD, Cashier

DIRECTORS:
JOSEPH G. BROWN. A. B. ANDREWS.

R. H. BATTLE. DR. A. B. HAWKINS.
DR. RICHARD H. LEWIS. WM. J. ANDREWS.

IVEN M. PROCTOR. JOHN C. DREWRY.
S. C. VANN.

The Keystonk
A Southern "Woman's Journal, Published Monthly

by Southern Women. Now in its 7th year.

Official Organ for the Clubwomen and Daughters of the Confederacy in
Virginia, North Carolina, South Carolina, Florida and Mississippi.

SUBSCRIPTION, 50c. PER YEAR
North Carolina Booklet, $1.00 per year—The Keystone and the North

Carolina Booklet for $1.10 per year.

Miss MARY HILLIARD HINTON,
Editoe N. C. Booklet,

Midway Plantation, Raleigh, N. C.

DURABLY AND

BEAUTIFULLY BOUND

ARTISTIC mi^^^^ LOWEST
PRINTING %A^f^im^.cJI PRICES

Club Programs and Embossed Stationery

ESTIMATES ON APPLICATION
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enstances Alter Cases

But Not our Cases. They are Always the

same. Guaranteed whether Filled or Gold.

Jolly-Wynne Jewelry Co.
RALEIGH, = = = - NORTH CAROLINA.

IIB II. Bdi I

M

Raleigh, North Carolina

^'

THE BIG

Hardware Men

PAINTS

MAJESTIC RANGES

Thomas A. Partin Co.
131 Fayetteville Street RALEIGH, jST. C.

Dry Goods
Ladies' Furnishings

and Novelties
Prompt attention given to local and mail

orders.

Darnell O Thomas
118 Fayetteville St. Raleigh, N. C.

Pianos, Organs
Sheet Music ::

The Soul Stirring " DIXIE "

a Specialty

J. R. FERRALL & CO.

Grocers
222 FAYETTEVILLE ST.

RALEIGH, N. C.

Raleigb Christian Edvocate
Establisbcd 185$.

Organ of the North Carolina Conference,

Methodist Episcopal Church, South.

Reaches weekly over 9,000 Subscribers.
11



jQ;€^5^^si>^ CAPITAL STOCK
$30,000.

A personal investigation will convince any one that KING'S is abso-
lutely the Largest, Best Equipped and Most Successful College of Busi-
ness, Shorthand, Typewriting, Penmanship and English in the Caro-
linas, regardless of any claims the small fry are making. Strong,
financial backing.

Reference: Every Bank and Leading Business Concern in

Raleigh or Charlotte.

College Journal and Special Offers FREE.
We also teach Bookkeeping, Shorthand and Penmanship

by mail.

King's Business College, Ealeigh, ST, C.
Charlotte, N. i

"It's worth the diflference"

KALEIGH, N. C.

Workers in Artistic Photography

Negatives on file of most all N. C. Famous Men

North Carolina State Flags

State Flag Post Cards

State Flag Buttons, 6c.

All sizes and prices of State Flags
on hand, from the smallest 1-cent
Muslin, to the largest Bunting.

Send for price-list.

PINCK. C. ENNISS.
RALEIGH. N. C.
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ro^^'Sir "A SOUTHERNER IN EUROPE"
By CLARENCE H. POE.

is now on the press—(the first edition having
been quickly exhausted)—in larger type,

handsomer binding and better paper

than the first. Price: cloth $1.00;

heavy paper 60 cents. Order

to-day from

THE MUTUAL PUBLISHING CO.. RALEIGH. N. C.

Chief Justice "Walter Clark of North Carolina: "Mr. Poe's are the best travel
letters I have ever seen from any European tourist."

Birming-hani (Ala.) Agre-Herald: " 'A Southerner in Europe' is all right—not like

the ordinary book of travels, but charming letters—different and pleasing."

Dr. Chas. R. Henderson, University of Chicagro: "Mr. Poe certainly travels
with his eyes open and knows how to interpret what he finds for the advantage of our
country."

Columbia State, Columbia, S. C. : "A collection of charming letters of travel, full

of interesting observations. . . . This volume will prove delightful to every class of
readers."

President Geo. H. Denny, "Washington and I^ee University, Lexingrton,
"Va. : "Mr. Poe is to be congratulated upon 'A Southerner in Europe.' I have read it

with genuine interest and satisfaction, and it will do a great deal of good."

President H. N. Snyder, "Wofford College, Spartanburg-, S. C: " 'A South-
erner in Europe' has brought me much pleasure and profit both from the author's charm
of manner and the freshness of his point of view."

Zach McGhee, author "The Dark Corner," "Washingt;on, D. C: "Entertain-
ing and inspiring, I wish every Southerner in our land could read it. Mr. Poe has drawn
lessons no one else has drawn, and has presented them in truly charming style."

Dr. Edwin Mims, author of "The Life of Sidney Lanier": "Not the con-
ventional book of travel, but the impression of an alert, open-minded, progressive South-
erner with insight and discrimination, a constructive leader in the development of the
South."

Presbyterian Standard, Charlotte, N. C. ;
" There are no dull places. The en-

tertainment is pronounced throughout. If anybody, who would know more of the wide
world, and love his country better, has never read this little book, let him sit down and
order a copy at once."

Ex-Governor Charles B. Aycock of North Carolina: "I read the last chapte
the other night, having for the first time found the opportunity to look into it. Having
read the last chapter I turned back and took the book up from the beginning, and nearly
completed it before laying it down. It is in every way most delightful and instructive.";

Nashville Christian Advocate, Nashville, Tenn: "The man who knows how to
produce so sprightly a paper as he edits, and whose contributions on Southern industrial

conditions are welcomed by the best magazines, naturally knows what to look for in Eu-
rope and how to tell the story when he has seen it. Mr. Poe has made a capital little

book."

R. E. Borden, Strasburg, Va: "I'm just reveling with the greatest delight in
reading 'A Southerner in Europe.' It is charmingly written and holds one's interest easily
to the end. My only complaint is, it isentirelv too brief, and I wish the author had toured
every country of Europe, and part of Asia and Africa."

•Teftersonian Magazine, Atlanta. Ga. : "It was time for a new book of travels in
Europe. All of the works of that kind that are on our bookshelves are out of date.
What we wanted was a volume which would picture to us the condition of things now.
Mr. Poe has supplied this demand. Without the waste of a page he has furnished a view
of the European world which enables one to see the town and farm of to-day, and the
manner of life, the diversity of work and the trend of things as they are at this very time."

13



J. M. BROUGHTON T. B. MOSELEY

J. M. Broug(hton €f Co.
/fea/ Estak and Insurance

City and country property bought and sold on commission.
Rents collected and satisfaction guaranteed.
Oldest Real Estate concern in the city.

OFFICE: 12 West Martin St. RAI.EIGII, X. C.

LADIES
Why not carry a $1,000 Policy in the

Jefferson Staiidard Life Ins. Go.

for the benefit of your children? The Jef-

ferson Standard is the strongest

in the South.

Kome Office, Raleigh, N. C.

The

Hews and Obseri^er
RALEIGH, N. C.

Publtsfted at tlie gapital gity

JOSEPHUS DANIELS
EDITOR

Growth of Circulation
1894, 1,800 subscribers
1895, 2,400 subscribers
1896, 3,100 subscribers 1903, 8,201

1897, 4,200 subscribers 1904, 9,111

1898, 4,880 subscribers
1899, 5,200 subscribers
1900, 5,700 subscribers

14

1901, 6,500

1902, 7,054

1905, 10,000

1906, 11,000

1907, 12,000



THE J. G. BALL COMPANY
WHOLESALE
GROCERS

131 AND 133 South Wilmington Street

RALEIGH, N. C.

Solicit the Trade of Merchants Only

TRY^UDINE
for COLDS and CRIPP

It relieves the feverishness and aching and restores normal conditions
Talie a dose as soon as you are exposed and feel the cold coming on and.
it will generally prevent it. Taken afterwards will relieve the ailment.

SOLD AT ALL DRUG STORES

LET THE

iV\eQl\ar\iQ$ £aVii\g5 ]^ai\k

TAKE CARE OF YOUR

SAVINGS
WE PAY FOUR PER CENT INTEREST

ON DEPOSITS

Dobbin-Ferrall Company
123-125 Fayetteville Street

RALEIGH, N. C.

North Carolina's Largest and Leading
Retail Dry Goods Establishment

Greatest attention is given to Ready-to-wear Garments for Ladies and
Misses. Costumes, Coat Suits, Skirts, Waists, Top Coats and Wraps.
Alterations are made free of charge by competent tailoresses and
promptly. We carry the largest stocks in these lines to be found in

North Carolina.
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JOHN T, PULLEN. President N. W. WEST, Vice-President

CHARLES ROOT, Cashier

RALEIGH SAVINGS BANK
RALEIGH, N. C.

RESERVED INTEREST .... $5,000.00
CAPITAL $15,000.00
SURPLUS $50,000.00
DEPOSITS OVER $750,000.00

FOUR PER CENT INTEREST PAID ON DEPOSITS

BOYLAN-PEARCE CO.

Dry Goods Leaders in the Capital City

A Store With a State -wide Reputation

Staple and Fancy Dress Goods, Silks and Cotton

Fabrics, White Goods in Immense Variety, Coat
Suits, Waists and Skirts, Swellest Millinery, Laces,

Embroideries, Parasols, Fans, Gloves and Hand-
kerchiefs, Blankets, Comforts, Toweling, Sheeting

and Pillow Cases, Lace and Net Curtains, and
Scrims, Damask Napkins and Towels, Carpets, Art
Squares, Rugs, Linoleums and Oil Cloths.

Samples submitted and contracts taken for public buildings, churches
libraries and private residences.

BOYLAN PEARCE COMPANY
206-208 Fayetteville Street RALEIGH. N. C.

ANTICEPHALALGINE
THE WONDERFUL REMEDY FOR

HEADACHE AND NEURALGIA

For Sale by All Druggists RALEIGH
25 AND 50 Cents per Bottle North Carolina

16



109 Fayetteville Street

EALEIGH, N. C.

The Place
THAT STANDS FOE

Correct Styles

in Millinery

T-wo Stores in One

Heller Bros.

SHOES AND TRUNKS
RALEIGH, N. C.

Carolina EleGtrical Co.
RALEIGir, N. C.

Engineers Contractors
Supplies

Electric Light, Telephone and Annuncia-
tor Installation.

Weathers & Perry
Fayetteville Street

EALEIGH, N. C.

China and Art Store and
Interior Decorators

J. C. Ellington
Pictures, Artists' Materials

Wall-papers

and Window-shades
Embroideru Silks Wools and Zephurs

I

RALEIGH, N. C.

FIFTIETH ANNUAL

N. C. STATE FAIR, RALEIGH, OCT. 1910,
Four full days. S12,000 offered in prizes. Grand display of live stock, agricultural

and horticultural products, machinery and fine arts. Fastest trotting and pacing races'
special stage and musical attractions and specialties. Biggest midway in the South-
General admission 50 cents, children 25 cents. For prize list and information, address
Joseph E. Pogue, Secretary, Raleigh, N. C.

CORNELIUS HARNETT. An Essay in North Carolina
History. By R. D. W. Connor, Secretary of the North Caro-
lina Historical Commission.

"I have just finished reading Harnett. . . . You have made an
interesting story of a most significant and interesting man."

—

Edwakd
K. Graham, Professor of English Literature, University of North
Carolina.

"I have read with pleasure and pride Mr. Connor's forthcoming
sketch of Cornelius Harnett. It is an interesting and scholarly piece
of work and should have a wide circulation."—C. Alphonso Smith,
Professor of the English Language, University of North Carolina;
Author of "Our Debt to Cornelius Harnett."

Edwards & Broughton Printing Co., Raleigh, N. C.

Price, $1.50


